
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Transport Committee 

Date Wednesday 12 September 2018 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 

Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 4 September 2018 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526;  
Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 
For media enquiries please contact Alison Bell, External Communications Manager;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4228; Email: alison.bell@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about 
individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:alison.bell@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Transport Committee 
Wednesday 12 September 2018 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  
 
(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 
Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 
(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 
which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 
of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 
Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 
action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 

 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 46) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Transport Committee held on 11 July 2018 to be signed by the Chair as a correct 
record.  
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 46 are attached for Members and officers 
only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 
 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 47 - 54) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact Laura Pelling, laura.pelling@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 5526 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport
mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 55 - 68) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Laura Pelling; laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 5526 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the recent action taken by the Chair of the 
Committee under delegated Authority, in consultation with party Group Lead 
Members, namely to agree: 

 

(a) A letter to the Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, Secretary of State for Transport, 

copied to the Office of Rail and Road (ORR), regarding disruptions on the 

Govia Thameslink Railway network attached at Appendix 1 to the report, and 

the response from the ORR which is attached at Appendix 2 to the report; 

 

(b) The recruitment process for the three London TravelWatch Board Member 

positions and;  

 
(c) Arrangements for the site visit on a Thames Clipper boat on 28 June 2018 the 

summary note of which is attached as Appendix 3, and the follow up letter 

attached at Appendix 4 to the report. 
 
 

6 Elizabeth Line (Pages 69 - 70) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to a discussion 

with invited guests on the delayed opening of the Elizabeth line and to note the 

subsequent discussion. 
 
 

7 Night Tube (Pages 71 - 72) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to a discussion 

with invited guests on the Night Tube and to note the subsequent discussion. 
 

8 Assisted Transport Services (Pages 73 - 88) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

  
The Committee is recommended to note the update from Transport for London on 

progress implementing the recommendations of the Committee’s report, Door-to-

door transport in London: Delivering a user-led service. 

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk
mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

9 Transport Committee Work Programme (Pages 89 - 92) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat  

Contact: Richard Berry, scrutiny@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4000 

 

The Committee is recommended to agree its work programme for the remainder of 

the 2018/19 Assembly year, as set out in the report. 
 
 

10 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 9 October 2018 at 10.00am in 

the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

11 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 September 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

E-mail: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Transport Committee 
Date: Wednesday 11 July 2018 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport 

 

 
Present: 
 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair) 
Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM 
Tom Copley AM 
David Kurten AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Keith Prince AM 
Caroline Russell AM 
Navin Shah AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 

1.2 During the meeting, the Chair welcomed pupils from Langdon Park School, Tower Hamlets, 

to the public gallery.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/transport


Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 11 July 2018 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1  Resolved: 

 

 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meetings of the Transport Committee held on 13 June and 

25 June 2018 be signed by the Chair as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 
That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

5.2 Resolved: 

 

 That the action taken by the Chair, under delegated authority, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, namely to agree a letter following the Committee 

meeting on 25 June 2018 to request further information on Govia Thameslink be 

noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 11 July 2018 

 

 
 

6   Future of Rail in London (Item 6) 

 

6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on Future of Rail in London to the following invited guests: 

 Paul Plummer, Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group; 

 Geoff Hobbs, Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London 

(TfL); 

 Michèle Dix, Managing Director, Crossrail 2, TfL;  

 Rupert Walker, Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail; and 

 Mark Farrow, Director of London Rail, Network Rail. 

 

6.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.3 Resolved: 
 

(a) That the report and discussion be noted; and 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree the final report of the investigation.  

 
 
7   Response to Report on Future Transport (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the response from Transport for London to the Committee’s report, Future 

Transport: How is London Responding to Technological Innovation?¸and the impact 

review for the report as attached at Appendices 1 and 2 to the report be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Transport Committee 

Wednesday 11 July 2018 

 

 
 

8   Transport Committee Work Programme (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

8.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year, as 

set out in the report, be agreed; 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree: 

 

(i) A submission to the Department for Transport, copied to the Office of 

Rail and Road, regarding service disruptions on the Govia Thameslink 

Railway network; and 

 

(ii) A response to the Transport for London congestion charge consultation. 

 
 
9   Date of Next Meeting (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for Wednesday 12 September 2018 at 

10.00am, in the Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
10   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 10) 

 
10.1 There was no other business. 

 
 
11   Close of Meeting  

 
11.1 The meeting ended at 12.26pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager; Telephone: 020 7983 5526; 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 5526 
 

Page 8



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
Transport Committee – Wednesday 11 July 2018 

 
Transcript of Item 6 - Future Rail in London 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  All right.  Let us move on to our main item today, which is the future of 

rail in London.  We have a fantastic panel of guests before us today to help us in our discussions on this.  This 

is our second hearing and we have also been out and had a site visit looking at the Digital Railway.  We met rail 

passenger groups yesterday and we have some further visits and meetings coming up. 

 

Michèle Dix will be joining us at 11.00am.  Michèle is the Managing Director for Crossrail 2.  Welcome back, 

Geoff Hobbs, before the Committee.  Geoff is Director of Public Service Transport Planning at Transport for 

London (TfL), but really one of the key people behind TfL Rail and the Overground.  Welcome, Geoff.  

Paul Plummer is Chief Executive of the Rail Delivery Group (RDG).  Thank you for coming along today.  

Mark Farrow is with us.  Mark is Director of London Rail at Network Rail.  Thank you for coming.  

Rupert Walker is Strategy and Planning Director (South) for Network Rail.  Thank you so much for coming 

along today. 

 

I will kick off with the first question.  One of the challenges in the industry is how you forecast demand and 

how you plan the demand you are going to have for the rail services.  We have seen the Office for Rail and 

Road recently reported a 2.1% fall in rail passenger journeys in London and the southeast over the last year.  

Why do you think we have seen that fall in rail demand?  Who would like to open with that?  Rupert? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Thank you, Caroline.  The 

amazing growth that we have seen in demand for rail travel over the last 20 years or so with rail passenger 

numbers doubling in 20 years - in fact, in London and the southeast they have doubled in the last 12 years - 

requires us to work together as transport organisations to plan really carefully for how we manage that growth.  

We are seeing the benefits of the planning that we did 15 or 20 years ago come out today in projects like 

Thameslink, Crossrail and the work we have done at Waterloo, where, within the next couple of years, we will 

be enabling another 90,000 passengers to get in and out of London in the peak hour.  You are seeing the 

benefits of early and joint planning there. 

 

As an industry, we work very closely to consider long-term passenger demand.  We use the same models and 

so all of our work is based around the same modelling technique and the same framework for modelling, which 

is benchmarked internationally. 

 

To address your point about the last couple of years, our forecasters generally look in the long term and so a 

change in any one or two years is not seen as a significant point.  Yes, it affects the baseline of the modelling 

and will affect our forecasts in the longer term, but the change that we have seen in the last couple of years 

could be down to any one of a number of fairly short-term reasons: security, the way in which the economy is 

changing. 

 

In the longer term, the modelling is based on things like housing, employment and population growth, and we 

see all of those things in the London context continuing to grow.  Therefore, our forecast for growth, which 

estimates that within the next 20 years or so we expect to see a further 40% increase in passenger numbers, 

we believe is still very much valid. 

 

Page 9



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Does anyone else want to come in on that?  The Underground as well 

has seen some dip in passengers on other modes.  Geoff, do you want to come in? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  I echo 

some of those points, but in the short run the change in Underground demand to negative year-on-year, 

certainly in 2017/18, you could correlate very closely with the start of the year last year, which correlates itself 

with the Westminster Bridge attack on 23 March [2017].  Notwithstanding the bulldog British spirit, there is a 

certain reluctance - certainly last summer we saw it - of the people coming in when they have some degree of 

discretion.  Other sectors - the museum sector, the theatre sector, the cultural sector - saw some of the same 

things and that had a real and immediate impact.  This is nothing new.  We saw the same thing with other 

terrorist attacks.  You see it elsewhere in other cities and countries which have suffered the same thing. 

 

There is a reliability impact as well.  It was not a good year, certainly on the National Rail side with Govia 

Thameslink Railway (GTR).  You took evidence from them last month.  That has an impact on public transport 

as a whole, particularly in and around central London, naturally enough.  That is another, hopefully, short-run 

impact, but it is still working its way through. 

 

Journey time matters.  I am quite pleased to be able to say that in a perverse way in the sense that, if it did 

not, it meant that a lot of my forecasting models that I work on with Rupert would not be valid.  In the short 

run, that is providing some degree of pain but, in the longer run, we expect some of the trends to re-engage.  

Some of them might be at a slower rate. 

 

We are beginning to see, for example, the population expansion slow down - not go into reverse but slow 

down - by which I mean that from the period from 2012 onwards there were about 100,000 more Londoners a 

year and that has about halved.  We have had the same number of babies; just migration has fallen somewhat, 

we think.  There is some official data that supports that sort of thing. 

 

There might be some economic stuff going on as well.  It is always quite hard to tell because the Office for 

National Statistics publishes data but heavily revises them subsequently and so you only find out the level of 

jobs, say, 18 months in arrears of what is actually going on.  In fact, organisations such as the Bank of England 

use passenger journeys as a leading indicator of what is happening in the economy, ironically.  There is 

probably a little bit of that. 

 

There is also something around, perhaps, travel behaviours.  By this I mean the number of trips per person per 

day is beginning to fall a little bit.  Again, this is not something that has emerged just this year.  It is a long-run 

trend, but that could be for all sorts of reasons, some of them economic.  Over the last few years, wages have 

not tended to outstrip inflation on the whole as they have done in previous years, but also technology. 

 

Smart working: again, whilst not being a new phenomenon, more people are choosing to work at home.  You 

see that as a much greater phenomenon on Fridays, for example, than you might do on other days of the 

week, but you also see people staying at home more.  If Netflix is a good enough cover for the economists a 

week and a half ago, then it is good enough to have some sort of impact upon public transport demand, I dare 

say.  Netflix is a few years old and has a steady impact along with all of these other factors and so I would not 

overemphasise it, but it is part of the multifaceted picture that is going on. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  OK.  Paul, would you agree with that?  Is it almost a blip at the 

moment because discretionary travel is down and there is a change, or are lifestyles changing so much that you 

are going to have to look at your modelling again? 

Page 10



 

 
 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Both, actually.  What you have heard already 

highlights the complexity of some of these issues and the, inevitably, model-based approach when you are 

looking at the long term.  You are looking at, potentially, changes in some underlying relationships.  They need 

to be used with caution. 

 

Therefore, what we are trying to do much more is a scenario-based approach to understand the potential range 

of scenarios in terms of the drivers of demand and what that could mean.  Undoubtedly, there has been some 

softening of discretionary travel demand.  Undoubtedly, there is some change in work patterns.  One of the 

reasons we need to fundamentally look at the fares structure, for example, is because of that, which perhaps 

we will come on to later.  That is a key thing. 

 

At the end of it, though, in terms of the sorts of scenarios, that would mean that we do not need more 

capacity to enable our economy to grow, they seem quite unlikely.  That is the key point to take out of it.  It is 

sometimes quite confusing looking at some of the volume and ticket type data, for example, because you have 

to shift between ticket types and volumes and that sometimes distorts the data.  When you see season ticket 

volumes reduce, it is partly people choosing different types of ticket as well as different travel patterns, partly 

because of underlying long-term trends and partly because of the short-term trends we have talked about.  As 

I said, the key conclusion I take away is that it is implausible to think that we do not need more capacity to 

enable our economy. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  What about the shift to cycling and walking?  I appreciate not for 

necessarily - I do not know - zone 6 coming in; not everyone is fit enough or wants to cycle that.  Actually, is 

that starting to take away from some of those shorter journeys and are you factoring that in as you look at 

modelling longer-term? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  I am sure that Geoff [Hobbs] will be more so.  In 

terms of the main railway, in a sense, we see that as complementary rather than mainly substitution in terms of 

getting people to stations.  For example, carparking space in many commuter stations is becoming the 

constraint.  Therefore, having different ways of getting people to the stations is critical and more 

environmentally friendly and healthy ways as well. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Rupert, you mentioned at the beginning that the modelling that you 

use is used across the industry but you benchmark it internationally.  Are there international examples of 

demand modelling that we should be looking to learn from?  Are there other places where they are starting to 

adjust to this new way of living and working? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  You are absolutely right.  We 

work together and sit on the Passenger Demand Forecasting Council, which is a group of people who are 

involved in passenger demand forecasting not just in this country but around the world.  We use that 

environment to share our experiences and our learnings and benefit from how other people are doing it.  There 

is no doubt that we can always learn from others’ experiences and benefit from them and get better at what 

we do, but through our experiences with particularly France, Germany and Japan, we are seeing different ways 

of doing modelling, different approaches and building that into the way in which we forecast passenger 

demand. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  France, Germany and Japan are perhaps leading the way on this 

internationally, would you say? 

Page 11



 

 
 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Japan, certainly.  In many 

areas, we have been sharing experiences with Japanese railways but France also in terms of their timetabling 

work. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is very interesting.  Are there any other thoughts from you on how 

demand for rail services will change going forward or do you think we are seeing the variation now and that is 

what you need to plan for? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Certainly the 

history of the last few years is that we have under-forecast.  We are now seeing something which we think is 

probably largely, but not completely, cyclical.  We have under-forecast because population and employment 

levels have grown faster than expected.  The models that Rupert and I use for the London area use things like 

RailPlan, which are based on London Plan forecasts.  Within the London Plan, some of the most essential parts 

of the data are population and its distribution - that tells you a lot about where trips originate from - and 

employment - that tells you a lot about where trips end - but they are not the only factors.  There are lots of 

others which affect it, tourism and car ownership and fares and service volume and all these sorts of things, but 

they are two very significant factors. 

 

Both of those have overshot forecasts in the past.  Take us back to 2001, if you will, and the forecasts then 

would have said that London’s population would be a bit over 8 million.  Actually, London is bigger than it has 

ever been in its entire history at about 8.7 million and that is a big reason for why the number of trips that we 

forecast has a bit undershot.  At the moment, we are seeing some of the reverse things.  Some of that will be 

cyclical. 

 

The hardest bit in forecasting is always forecasting those tipping points and it might be that there are some 

more structural changes to the economy that are going on or, indeed, to travel behaviour or both.  They are 

perfectly possible.  There are some straws in the wind.  There are all sorts of uncertainties.  Economists always 

like to say that there is lots of uncertainty, which is a statement of the obvious because that is the future, but 

with Brexit there probably is, actually.  For once, that is more than usually true.  There are lots of those sorts of 

things which give one pause for thought. 

 

However, I do agree with Paul that, on the balance of probabilities and based on scenarios, we still foresee 

significant growth in population, employment and how London will develop the Opportunity Areas - to use the 

jargon of the London Plan - building out and, therefore, a significant growth in public transport demand and 

transport demand more generally.  Over that long run, notwithstanding this short-run impact, we will need to 

invest accordingly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Shall we move on to looking at what we need to invest in?  We are 

going to look now at London’s future rail needs.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Good morning.  Thanks for your answers.  It is very interesting what you are saying about 

population growth and everything and population demand.  If I could ask you: how do you think London’s rail 

network needs to change and develop over the coming decades?  Any of you can answer that question. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Can I kick off and then the 

others can join in?  We have been discussing growth.  I explained briefly earlier on how we have seen the 

number of passengers double in the last 20 years and our response to that being projects like Thameslink, 

Page 12



 

 
 

Waterloo and Crossrail opening this year.  Looking ahead and based on what we have just been discussing, 

there are a number of schemes which we feel are important. 

 

Before I get into them, it is probably worth just describing the way in which we go about our planning because 

it is very much a joint process.  Network Rail and TfL and the rest of the industry come together to consider 

where there are hotspots; in other words, where we are seeing demand for rail travel exceeding the capacity 

that is available.  Then we, together, try to understand what sort of intervention is needed, whether it is more 

trains or longer trains or, ultimately, a change to the infrastructure, building new railway lines or changing the 

arrangement of those railway lines.  Then, by understanding the relative benefits of different types of 

intervention, we can start to prioritise the projects that we would want to deliver and how these can help 

passengers and freight users of our railway. 

 

Looking immediately ahead, just to give you some examples, we have a real focus on the Brighton Main Line.  I 

know people have been experiencing real issues using that line over the last few months and years.  One of the 

problems that it faces is the overcrowding on the trains, and the fact that there are more trains running on that 

line than ever before means that we need to do something.  We are focusing particularly on trying to relieve 

the bottleneck around East Croydon to make more of the capacity that is available on the rest of the line.  That 

in itself can help unlock commuter trains further into London.  Other places that we are focusing on are, 

similarly, at Clapham Junction and the line out towards Woking and Basingstoke and also the West Anglia Main 

Line, where, for example, we are building a new station at Meridian Water funded by Enfield Council. 

 

We have some really exciting schemes that we are working on together at the moment to make sure that we 

deliver and prioritise solutions to make journeys easier for passengers and freight users. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you.  Does anyone else want to answer that? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  I agree with all 

of that.  You will see all of those schemes and others in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) and also a few 

others of relevance to heavy rail as opposed to the Underground or trams or the Docklands Light Railway 

(DLR). 

 

There are some ideas that we are working up with Rupert [Walker] and his team around - stretching to some of 

the other questions you are coming on to - the Digital Railway and its impact on parts of the Brighton Main 

Line and the East London Line, a very busy part of the network.  We have ideas around how to best make use 

of capacity in and around Old Oak Common.  There is a whole range of station congestion relief schemes which 

are coming up on the blocks as well, which you will see reference to in Network Rail’s route studies and indeed 

in the MTS, of which Victoria and Liverpool Street would be examples. 

 

Then, for slightly longer down the line, we have things like the West London Orbital, to which there was 

reference in previous evidence to this Committee. 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Can I add a couple of more general points?  Geoff 

and Rupert own the detail very much more than me, but in terms of a couple of really general points that are 

important, one is around the demand we talked about earlier.  It is very much about responding to demand 

that is there, but the other aspect of what transport can provide - and I am sure you would agree - is in terms 

of how it enables and potentially generates further growth by connecting places and the demand that is not 

there at the moment if it can be there.  Crossrail 2, which I am sure we will come back to later, is a good 

example.  One end of it is responding to a demand that is already there; the other end is potentially generating 

Page 13



 

 
 

demand in terms of what it can do for that part of the economy.  That is part of it that we tend not to talk so 

much about when we talk about rail demand and what it can do. 

 

The other point is in terms of the railway as a whole.  It is a network and it is being used for multiple different 

purposes in terms of inner London commuting, longer-distance commuting, longer-distance travel, freight and 

so on.  Meeting all of those needs on the network is key and connecting, as you would know, London’s needs 

as part of the economy as a whole and the country and creating those connections is an important part of it as 

well. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Thanks.  What do you think are the priorities for major new infrastructure?  I know you 

mentioned Crossrail 2 and you mentioned the West London Orbital.  People talk about the Bakerloo line 

extension as well.  What are the priorities there, do you think, over the coming decades? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  The one Rupert mentioned is the Brighton Main 

Line, yes. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Yes, we have covered the 

priorities that we see at the moment as being most important and Paul also touched on Digital Railway.  The 

opportunity that Digital Railway brings and I am sure we will talk about it in a minute -- 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to come on to that in greater detail. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  The only other 

thing say is that in the TfL portfolio our big priority is around London Underground line upgrades, of which we 

are in the midst, of course.  We are getting to the extremely interesting bit indeed with respect to the 

subsurface lines on the District, Hammersmith & City, Metropolitan and Circle [lines], where we are starting to 

turn on what can be described as digital signalling or Digital Railway, with the timetable uplifts to follow from 

2020 onwards.  We have also started letting contracts to the Piccadilly line upgrade as well and these are very 

substantial.  Certainly, the Piccadilly line is a 60% increase in capacity from one of the weedier Underground 

lines to what is actually one of its busiest and where we can make a real big difference.  We have all those 

things as well, but I entirely agree with the importance of the Brighton Main Line as one of the United 

Kingdom’s (UK) absolutely busiest mainline railways. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Great.  Thanks.  Those are all larger things, but in terms of smaller things which could 

have a very great impact on passenger satisfaction, do you see any particular things like footbridges, 

underpasses, connectivity, etc, that would make a big difference and do you have any examples of that? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Absolutely.  I am glad you 

mentioned it because it is easy to forget the smaller things.  We have a continuous focused workstream looking 

at congestion around the smaller stations.  In particular, we would like to concentrate over the next few years 

on some of the south London stations - Peckham Rye, Denmark Hill, Lewisham, New Cross - many of which 

are really crowded and movement in and around the stations is difficult.  In fact, at a couple of those, we are 

really keen to work with, potentially, third-party investors to deliver not just improvement to the railway 

station itself but to deliver homes and commercial premises around the stations - in some cases above the 

stations - where there is land available.  This joint working is a real opportunity for the way forward in terms of 

Page 14



 

 
 

investment in rail where, using some Government money and some private money, we can deliver schemes and 

get more benefit from them that otherwise might have either taken longer or not been done so well. 

 

David Kurten AM:  I am glad you mentioned Lewisham because that is also a bit of a bottleneck area as well.  

Are there any plans for any major infrastructure changes in Lewisham to the rail? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We have a study ongoing at 

the moment at Lewisham itself to understand what works might be required to unlock or release the 

bottlenecks around there and considering how we can effectively provide more capacity in that part of London. 

 

David Kurten AM:  Great.  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Rupert, you raised the subject of the Windmill Bridge north of East Croydon.  I would 

like to refer back to Geoff as well because Geoff and I have spoken about this a lot over the last couple of 

years because this is not just a Croydon thing.  Our conversations have led me to think that that is unlocking 

services across that south London region that does not get mentioned a lot: the Norburys, the Balhams, the 

Peckhams, and that sub-region.  We have the headline acts, but often that does not get covered.  If you could 

amplify, perhaps, Geoff, our conversations and how the Windmill Bridge investment will improve commuter 

access across the south London sub-region in your view?  We have discussed this. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Absolutely.  The 

railway jargon ‘Brighton Main Line’ gives the slight impression that somehow this is of benefit to Brighton 

users only, but absolutely not.  By saying ‘Windmill Bridge’, the shorthand means two extra platforms at East 

Croydon station, some extra tracks heading north out of that station and a whole untangling of the spaghetti 

of railways that is between East Croydon and Selhurst and Norwood. 

 

The purpose of doing that collection of things, which is quite a large intervention taken together, is multi-fold.  

Yes, it will allow you to run more longer distance trains from Gatwick and Brighton and places like that, but it 

will also allow you to run a more intense London local service.  That can take lots of different forms.  That 

could take the form of, for example, a more intense London Overground service between West Croydon and 

Dalston, for example.  It could also enable you to run a more intense local service into London Bridge and/or 

Victoria.  I sometimes characterise it - and it is described in the MTS - as ‘metroisation’, which is a term I use to 

say that making the heavy rail network a bit more like a metro in terms of its simplicity, its frequency, its 

capacity and its characteristics. 

 

That sort of infrastructure will make a big difference and there are other places where one needs to do that to 

get the package as a whole up and running.  There are turn-backs at various places such as Belmont or 

Wallington and places like this, and you also need to have rolling stock that is fit for purpose.  At the moment, 

we have trains which were great for the 1980s, but the doors are really too narrow and the layout inside the 

trains is too poor to allow large numbers of passengers to get on and off as they do at places like Clapham 

Junction without really quite long waits, over two minutes on many occasions.  You do not run a metro by 

having a train run stationary for over two minutes. 

 

You will also need a bunch of other things to occur.  You need cleverer signalling that can run trains with 

smaller gaps between them.  You need staff that provide the right degree of - if I can use the use the term - 

‘hustle’ or at least get passengers on and off as quickly as possible. 

 

Page 15



 

 
 

Steve O’Connell AM:  This will be predicated around investment in Control Period 6 (CP6) on unlocking the 

north of East Croydon piece, which is on the CP6 wish list, hopefully? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  The single 

biggest intervention in infrastructure terms is, indeed, the north of East Croydon piece.  This is going through 

its design and development stages at the moment. 

 

There is something that the Government calls - and I might need my colleagues to help me with the new 

acronym - the Rail Network Enhancements Pipeline (RNEP).  This is a new process.  Instead of the Government 

setting out at the beginning of the five-year financial settlement - the next one being 2019 to 2024 - a whole 

menu of enhancements, they are going to take them through more slowly or more individually as 

developments come up for the right stage for going from a bright idea through to detailed design through to 

implementation, the idea being that you do not get into such a tangle as the railway industry did during 

Control Period 5 (CP5). 

 

The purpose of mentioning all of that is that the Brighton Main Line intervention at East Croydon is in the 

midst of that right now and so it is getting to the stage where we are getting into detailed design. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Very good.  Geoff, we are going to meet separately and you can brief me more fully, 

but I just wanted clarification, Chair.  It benefits south London, not just Croydon. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Yes, that is right, and it is in the note - and I know it was circulated 

only late yesterday to Members - on CP6.  It is one of the projects in there.  Caroline is going to continue with 

this question and then I have Navin [Shah AM]. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  Just picking up a little bit more on this, you are talking about a more intense 

service.  Do platform extensions and longer trains form part of that and, if so, could you just expand on that a 

bit? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  There has been 

a lot of that already.  Certainly, to take the south London example, most trains that used to be eight cars have 

been extended to 12 and those which were shorter have been extended to 10.  The railway has that 

functionality already pretty widespread across most routes, not all, within London.  We have done - I use this 

term slightly loosely - most of those sorts of things which are in general, train lengthening, being the relatively 

easy things.  That is why in the MTS and elsewhere, the move on to metroisation would be the next step to get 

some more quarts out of this pint pot, quite a lot of quarts.  That is why we would take that quite big railway, 

that 10-car railway, and we would like to see that turned into a more intense and more metro-style type of 

operation such as you see internationally.  If you go to Tokyo, for example, you will see exactly that type of 

model applied there, for example. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Just to add to what Geoff said, 

which is entirely correct, you will remember the work that we did at Waterloo last year involving extending the 

platforms to try to achieve 12-car platforms1 right the way through the station.  There is a similar opportunity 

at Victoria where the platforms are not all of the same length.  By ensuring that we have 10-car platforms right 

the way through Victoria, we can make sure that we are able to support this concept of metroisation and any 

train being able to use any platform; in other words, having a much more flexible system that is able to cope in 

                                                 
1
 Clarified by Network Rail after the meeting: This figure should have been 10-car platforms.  

Page 16



 

 
 

periods of either high demand or delay or where there are problems.  Absolutely, as Geoff has said, along most 

of the routes the train lengthening in many cases has already happened but there are some opportunities still 

existing. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Then I want to talk about accessibility.  The MTS talks about accessibility in terms of 

people with visible and invisible disabilities, step-free access and then the connections on to other parts of the 

transport network.  Could you just talk a bit about work that is ongoing in terms of addressing accessibility so 

that all Londoners are able to access this new intense service. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I will kick off this time and 

then Geoff can build on that.  Absolutely, accessibility is a key part of our plans looking ahead to the next 

Control Period, the next five years.  After a programme of work over the last dozen or 15 years to provide lift 

access to as many stations as we can, we are just in the process of commencing a study, which we have called 

Railway For Everyone - recognising your point about access accessibility issues not always being visible to us all 

- which is going to look at where we can provide better access to the railway and make it easier, not just lifts 

and escalators and things but actually thinking about people’s whole journey, interchanges at stations and all 

the sorts of issues that we all face every day getting in and out of the railway.  We are excited to be working 

with the rest of the industry on that study as it moves forward during the next 18 months or so.  We hope that 

it will identify ways and opportunities to invest in development work and then ultimately to deliver benefits for 

Londoners in terms of accessibility across the capital. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  We contribute 

to that by coming up with what we think will be the best recommendations.  There are about 300 national rail 

stations in London and about half of them are step-free and about half of them are not.  There are some really 

big changes going on in the near future in 2018 and 2019, by which I mean that through central London you 

will have an east-west and north-south cross of accessible stations in the form of the Elizabeth line and 

Thameslink, which is just a remarkable change and will make a big difference to the level of accessibility in 

central London. 

 

That still leaves a really large number of stations to do and that will take time and energy and treasure.  The 

Department for Transport (DfT) has the Access for All fund.  We and colleagues in Network Rail equally wait to 

find out what the magnitude of that fund will be for CP5.  They make all the decisions on which stations to do 

and which stations not to fund across the whole of the country.  They ask for recommendations.  We - and 

Network Rail through its study Railways for Everyone - will do just that.  In the MTS in figure 21 there is 

analysis which informs how we would make those recommendations.  We also have to meet the DfT’s criteria 

and so on and so forth. 

 

Yes, absolutely, it is a big challenge.  It is a big priority.  There are a lot of stations to go at.  It is the work of 

CP6 and beyond to make that all happen. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  One of the things that people raise with me about step-free access is that very often 

the information is not completely up-to-date.  Can you try to make sure that you build in updating information 

for passengers as soon as changes get made?  Even if a station is step-free in only one part of the station, if 

that information is out there, someone can maybe have an easier journey on their outward journey or their 

homeward journey because of that partial step-free access.  It is very frustrating for people who need step-free 

access when that information is not completely up-to-date, if you can bear that in mind. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Something else that I have been made aware of recently is the Look Up campaign.  What they are calling for is 

station announcements that say, “Look up.  Is there someone who needs your seat more than you do?”  That is 

a very simple thing that is not going to cost lots of money.  It is just a behaviour thing, but it can make a real 

difference to someone’s journey.  If you are mobility impaired or if you have a hidden disability, managing to 

get a seat for your journey home or your journey to work can make the difference between a good day and a 

bad day and it is not a complicated thing.  Is that campaign something you are aware of? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  I was not aware of that one, but I will certainly go 

and look into that one myself and find out about it.  It sounds interesting. 

 

In terms of the up-to-date information, absolutely, that is critical and we are focusing on that.  As well as that, 

we are looking at better ways of making that information more easily available as well as it being up-to-date 

through apps, maps, films and so on so that people can have confidence when they turn up at the station that 

they know where they are going and what they are looking at. 

 

Those are things we are all looking at, yes, and I will take away the Look Up campaign, which sounds 

interesting. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  I will send you the details of it.  The other thing is that you say about when you turn 

up at the station.  Are you thinking about access to stations in terms of how people are arriving, whether they 

are arriving on foot, by bicycle, by bus or from a Tube or from some other Overground system?  The 

connectivity between the different modes of transport is absolutely dependent on healthy streets and having 

streets where it is safe and convenient to get around on foot.  Are you considering the areas around the 

outside of the station and how the station interacts with the rest of the public realm so that there are not 

difficult bits where it is on the boundary between Network Rail and TfL and you end up with a step that could 

actually be eliminated if people were thinking about those sorts of boundary joining points?  Are you looking 

at healthy streets around stations to improve accessibility? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Absolutely.  That is a really 

important and valid point that you make and something that we did not use to do terribly well.  Railway 

stations originally were these amazing edifices marking the start and end of a journey, but we did not think 

about the whole journey in. 

 

In recent years particularly, we have become more joined up.  Through our work with Geoff and his team we 

are beginning to look even more closely at people’s whole journey and thinking of it as a transport system 

rather than just a railway.  It is exactly the point you make: people are interchanging between different modes, 

more and more we are encouraging people to arrive on foot or by bicycle.  Providing better facilities for these 

passengers and enabling them to get into the station more easily - and we spoke of accessibility just now - is a 

really important focus of our work.  You are beginning to see the benefits of that at places like London Bridge, 

where the change has been absolutely profound, and King’s Cross and in future we will see it at places like 

Euston as that station is redeveloped and at Victoria as we get going on that as well. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Thank you.   

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Rupert quite rightly refers to things going on at 

some of the major stations, which is clearly critical.  In terms of many stations across the country, we who are 

sitting in the centre, if you like, cannot sensibly plan and make those decisions and so the important thing is to 

empower the local teams to do that.  One of the things we constantly focus on and make sure within Network 

Page 18



 

 
 

Rail is supporting the devolution to empower businesses, to work with train operators, to focus on local 

communities and customers.  That reform issue is key to exactly being able to have local decisions really 

informed by the issues you are describing there. 

 

The other thing we try to do from the centre, if you like, from RDG is around best practice.  We cannot go into 

each station and say, “This is what you should do”, but actually challenge the local ownership.  Just last week 

we had the Station Summit, which was looking at a lot of those best practice issues: how to plan those things, 

the sorts of things you would be expecting people to look at in exactly the way you describe. It is about local 

empowerment in many ways. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  The other issue is safety.  There have been some terrible crashes certainly near Euston 

Station with pedestrians being killed by buses where you have the potentially very dangerous situation of 

people running for trains because trains run to a timetable in an area of streets where there are lots of bus 

movements.  Thinking about how people get across the road safely, how the buses are accessing the area 

around a station and whether there are safe places for people to cross and whether there are any potential 

danger points, is that something that is also looked at? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  The answer is 

yes.  All bus accidents, fatalities, injuries, whatever, be it of staff or of customers, are investigated very 

carefully.  In trying to get to the bottom of those root causes, whether it is the design of the streetscape, the 

place, the vehicle, driver behaviours, customer behaviours or desire lines, all of these sorts of things are taken 

to account and there is an immense effort, which you see in the MTS under the title of Vision Zero, to get 

those numbers right down.  It is a real change of thought processes to try to make all that lot happen.  It is a 

big old job to do but, yes, it is absolutely top of mind. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is top of your mind at TfL.  Do you think that it is top of mind for Network Rail and 

the stations? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  In working up 

the MTS, we worked very closely with Rupert and the team and they will be equally motivated in regard to 

safety both in and outside the stations.  We have a joint common purpose to ensure that our transport 

networks - plural - are as safe as they ever possibly can be. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I could not agree more with 

Geoff.  Safety is absolutely our number-one priority.  It is not just about people travelling on the train and 

more people working on the railway.  We have the safest railways in Europe and that is a reputation that has 

come about through a lot of hard work by a lot of people and a huge amount of focus. 

 

As Geoff has said, that view extends beyond the stations.  I am very familiar with the issues you have 

mentioned at Euston.  I know about the fatality that happened there and, within Network Rail, we looked at 

that issue and the fatality and how it happened so that we could understand, thinking about the future 

development of Euston Station and how we could try to avoid it in the layout of the station and the way in 

which people access the station. 

 

At London Bridge, you can see how the rearrangement of the pedestrian crossings there, which was done 

working closely with Geoff’s team, has provided a better means of crossing the road than existed previously, 

but we are dealing with a culture.  People will run across the road and not wait for the green man and try to 

cross when -- 

Page 19



 

 
 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  It is because they are late for a train and it is human nature, and so we need to design 

to minimise the risk. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We have to help people 

understand, exactly, yes. 

 

Caroline Russell AM:  Yes.  Thank you. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Geoff, you and Rupert have already mentioned the issues about forecasts for growth and, 

Geoff, you mentioned also the London Plan and Opportunity Areas.  This is something I would like us to 

explore a bit further. 

 

The question is: what would it actually mean in terms of how this unprecedented growth, both in terms of the 

huge number of housing developments as well as other commercial office areas, etc, which will come about in 

those hubs, Opportunity Areas, etc?  For example, I represent [the London Borough of] Brent and [the London 

Borough of] Harrow.  We have Wembley as an Opportunity Area and then the Harrow Town Centre and 

Willesden covering all of that.  Already there are tensions.  There is confusion and chaos when you look at the 

local stations, not only railway stations but bus garages and stuff like that.  As it is, we are bursting at the 

seams.  This is not just in my area.  Most Opportunity Areas will see that kind of scenario and then the problem 

will escalate as the growth actually happens. 

 

The question is: what is the strategic planning to address this growth, both in the short term as well as in the 

long term?  That is one area. 

 

Then you have currently smaller stations, for example, you might say, which have not been historically busy, 

are quieter, but, again, given the growth that happens in surrounding areas - for example, Sudbury Town 

Station - require capacity as it is.  How will all of this be built into the strategic plan to make sure that (a) there 

is that clear plan which is implemented in the short and long-term, and (b) funding?  You do not need to go 

into details now.  That will be dealt with under a different section, but I would like to know how in real terms 

people will see that difference and how you will cover that growth. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  That is a big 

question. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  It is. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  We have the 

London Plan.  That gives us a representation of where the growth will occur in terms of population, 

employment and other factors -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  You are saying in some areas already you are finding that the forecast is being overshot? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  It is hard to 

ignore the London Plan for obvious reasons -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  You should not. 

 

Page 20



 

 
 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  -- and, 

therefore, our models do take account of that.  The London Plan is itself subject to revision from time to time.  

It might even be under revision at the moment -- 

 

Navin Shah AM:  It is currently, yes. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  -- and we 

continuously update our models for the latest state of reality and we continuously update our models for the 

forecast going forward, as set out in the London Plan.  That would include growth in general and growth 

specifically of the 30 or so Opportunity Areas that exist. 

 

When one looks at the degree to which there are stresses and strains on particular parts of the networks - 

plural - be that heavy rail, be that the Underground, be it the Overground, be it the DLR, be it the bus 

network, be it whatever, we look at that on a semi-continual basis, prompted by all sorts of things of which 

particular developments in Opportunity Areas would be one but also as particular parts of the network come up 

for reletting if it is done that way or as assets come up for renewal, which is most relevant for parts of the 

Underground.  The Piccadilly line would be one relevant reference at the moment. 

 

That allows us to say something about where we would want to put investment in the best of all possible 

worlds.  There are never enough hours in the day or money in the pot to do everything that we would ever 

possibly like and so one has to prioritise.  We look specifically at Opportunity Areas, all of them individually, to 

see whether they are firing on all cylinders as they ought to be or whether there are particular interventions - 

transport interventions in the case of TfL, for obvious reasons - that we need to make in order to make sure 

that they do what the plan says they ought to do.  Those interventions take wholly different forms depending 

on the particular local circumstances.  That can be heavy rail, and we talk to colleagues in Network Rail and the 

Train Operating Companies (TOCs) under those circumstances.  It can be buses.  It can be the Underground.  It 

can be a variety of different parts of the network.  In parts of Docklands, the DLR is the obvious one.  For 

Wembley, you are absolutely right that there is a very active Opportunity Area that is growing very fast.  You 

look at the number of cranes and buildings going up there and it is really quite remarkable.  There, for 

example, it is a mixture of upgrading the Metropolitan line and that will increase capacity quite markedly and 

so the 22 trains an hour out of Baker Street at moment will increase to 28 by 2023, for example.  There are 

changes to the bus network which are forthcoming.  I have in the back of my mind all sorts of changes that will 

improve access and capacity in and around that part of the world.  We would like to increase the Overground 

service going through Wembley Central.  Eventually, in the fullness of time, we would upgrade the Bakerloo 

line.  The list goes on.  It would be an even longer answer for me to do not just Wembley but the other 

remaining 30 or so Opportunity Areas.  I might have to spare your indulgence on doing all that, but I hope that 

gives an impression of the sorts of things that we look at. 

 

For stations, we have, just as we have for trains, a strategic planning model that looks at the stresses and 

strains for all of the stations in the TfL networks.  That allows us to say something about Sudbury Town as 

opposed to the many other stations that have stresses and strains and gives us pause for thought about which 

particular part of the station is the pinch-point.  Sometimes that is writ very large, at Holborn, for example.  At 

Sudbury Town, it might be a simpler intervention around gate lines or particular parts of the steps and stairs 

and so on and so forth.  We do have a look across all of the large number of stations - about 600 in London - 

to see what we need to do, particularly prompted when large developments are put in for planning 

applications, at which point one can also take the opportunity, should that exist, of seeing whether the 

developer would be willing to fund some or all of any enhancement required. 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

I hope that helps to explain some of what we do. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  That was helpful.  I have just one last bit very briefly.  I would like to urge that, with so 

much going on now and so much more to do, something which TfL or Network Rail do not do very well is 

consulting and engaging local communities.  You can do lots better, not just when you have major plans, 

whether strategic plans of the Mayor or TfL’s Business Plan, etc, that you go out for consultation, but it is a 

matter of regularly keeping in touch with the community.  We get a lot of lobbying on what is going on.  We 

have concerns about infrastructure, transport congestion, chaos and so on.  This is where, if you were more 

prepared and able to communicate regularly, it would really help. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Your point is 

noted and it is a fair criticism.  It is weasel words to say that there are not enough hours in the day, but your 

point is absolutely noted and we shall do our best to try to communicate better and more effectively. 

 

Navin Shah AM:  Thank you. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you.  It will be a very quick question, actually.  I have asked it before.  I just 

wondered how much consideration you are giving to double-decker trains.  I am sure the answer is probably 

none, but we see them a lot on the Continent.  They do not appear to be that much taller than the trains that 

we have.  There must be some routes where, OK, you may have to move a few bridges or do something, but 

there must be some routes where you could consider using double-deckers. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Keith, that is a good point 

and, as you say, we perhaps have discussed it before.  There are a couple of points here.  Firstly, our Victorian 

railway infrastructure was not designed when double-decker trains were a thing.  As you have quite rightly 

said, to introduce them - and generally they do require a bit more space - would require massive civil 

engineering work, which in itself is a case of money but it is the disruption that is involved in the civil 

engineering to the existing railway, affecting people’s journeys every day, that generally makes that 

uneconomic. 

 

The other issue regarding double-decker trains - and certainly you may have experienced it if you have 

travelled on them in France or elsewhere - is that they tend to take longer to load and unload.  As Geoff has 

said, particularly in London, we are trying to move towards a more intense metro-style railway on the heavy rail 

as well as on the TfL network and so we need people to be able to get on and off the trains really quickly.  The 

relatively marginal gain you get by having a double-decker train - and it is not twice as many people because 

of the way in which the wheels of the train and the stairs work - is not worth the expense that is involved in 

introducing them. 

 

Traditionally, we have considered lengthening trains in order to provide more capacity.  I know we are going to 

talk about it shortly, but the Digital Railway gives us an opportunity to further increase the capacity of the 

railway.  Essentially, we are doubling the number of people who can get in and out of London over time 

through other means rather than just converting everything to a double-decker train. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Can I just quickly say?  Some of the rolling stock that you have may be configured with 

two and three seats.  Is there any opportunity of taking away that third seat?  Then it would mean many more 

people could stand during the peak period.  I know it would mean there would be fewer seats but, frankly, you 

have a period of peaks and troughs.  When it is really busy you need all the standing space you can get and 

Page 22



 

 
 

when it is not busy you do not need any seats at all.  There cannot be many journeys where you need exactly 

the number of seats that are in the train. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Yes.  I could not agree more.  I 

am sure others will want to come in, but generally the newer trains come with either a two-and-two 

configuration or even seats down the sides, as you will be familiar.  The three-and-two configuration, as Geoff 

was saying, on the older trains does not enable people to get on or off the trains as quickly as we would like 

and so -- 

 

Keith Prince AM:  I am talking about retrofitting or retro-unfitting, actually. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I do not know if Geoff can 

pick up on that. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, we have 

done that in some cases.  When we still had the old rolling stock on London Overground, we did just that in an 

effort to do just what you say.  Then, as we have had new rolling stock being manufactured now, we have 

gone for the seats-along-the-side model instead as a logical extension of that. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you. 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  The only other point I would add is that it clearly 

does depend on the markets you are serving.  The longer-distance commuting, business and leisure markets 

are very different in terms of the seating configurations you would want. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you.  That was a very good point to raise.   

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Just quickly on that, I know we are talking about future rail needs, 

but the reality is that at some of the stations there is an immediate crisis in terms of that overcrowding.  Just to 

you, Rupert and Mark [Farrow], just yesterday I was contacted by two constituents at Denmark Hill.  I am 

pleased to see that there are station improvements in the CP6 plan, which is great, and my understanding is 

that there is some modelling work on the pedestrian crossing as well, which is great, but there is an urgent 

crisis at some of those stations.  Yesterday at Denmark Hill, Claire [a constituent] contacted me to say that just 

at the last minute her TfL Rail train was cancelled and then there was 30 seconds for them to change 

platforms.  My understanding is that this happens on a regular basis and you are having passengers not being 

able to get on platforms because of the overcrowding. 

 

Is there anything in the short-term period that can be done?  It is really great to see that it is mentioned for 

CP6, but will it not be until there is a major catastrophe or death before this is actually looked at? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I will kick it off because Mark 

is more familiar with the today’s railway aspects that you are mentioning. 

 

There are three elements to this.  There is the short term that I will let Mark talk about in a minute and that is 

around the operational interventions we might make and our devolution to more locally focused routes and the 

close working we do with TfL. 

 

Page 23



 

 
 

In the medium term, we have a team that focuses entirely on station congestion and it has identified the 

hotspots, as I was saying earlier on.  That is why Denmark Hill has been identified as one of the stations where 

we see a pressing need to invest.  The team is, as we speak, developing the case for that investment to provide 

relief to passengers in terms of, at that station, potentially a larger concourse space at the street level and 

probably additional access down to the platforms so that people can get in and out more quickly. 

 

Then, in the longer term, we are looking at bigger interventions to enable essentially more trains to run 

through, but you can only put more trains through when the station has been improved. 

 

For me, it is those three elements, but I will let Mark pick up on the short-term stuff. 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  I would make three very quick points on this.  

Hearing that kind of example is worrying.  We want everyone who travels and uses the rail network to be safe 

when they do so.  It is the reality on parts of London’s rail network that demand has increased and, therefore, 

that is, as you just outlined for us, putting extreme pressure on what we have out there at the moment. 

 

There is a point here about the station staff.  In the moment, quite often, these people are required to make 

short-notice, important decisions, and so there is a responsibility on all of our organisations to make sure that 

there are adequate staff and that those staff are adequately trained and supported so that, where it is possible 

to do so, they are able to make operational decisions which keep people safe. 

 

Building on that, there is familiarity with the crowding protocols, which will be in place at all stations, and 

making sure that those are deployed and we are able to respond to issues when they arise. 

 

The second point would be around station furniture.  This might sound slightly prosaic, but quite often one of 

the challenges in existing infrastructure and platform-specific infrastructure is that there are seats or shelters or 

bits of railway kit which, to coin a phrase, clutter things up a little bit.  I know one of the things that some of 

the London rail operators are looking at is how they can declutter platforms to make sure that people can 

move around more easily and that potentially there is a bit more capacity on those platforms.  That also has a 

performance benefit as well to the extent that if people are able to distribute themselves more evenly along a 

platform, you are less likely to get the type of crowding at entrance and exit points that you are talking about. 

 

The final point I would make is around devolution.  Rupert just mentioned it.  We are as an organisation in the 

throes of becoming a more locally responsive organisation and one of the things that unlocks is the ability for 

our teams to work more flexibly and in a more agile way with teams on the ground whether they are from TfL 

or whether they are from train operators.  That then, again, hopefully, enables us to mitigate some of the 

problems that you have just talked about. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  That is good to hear, but how often do you look at risk 

assessments?  Again, if you look at somewhere like Denmark Hill, Nunhead or Peckham, the capacity just 

seems to be growing.  Is that on an annual basis?  Quarterly? 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  I could not tell you for that specific location, but 

my understanding would be that they would be done at least on an annual basis. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Page 24



 

 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Tom, a very quick one on this.  We should welcome Michèle Dix, 

Managing Director of Crossrail 2.  Thank you very much for coming. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  It was on the Barking Riverside extension very quickly. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Very quickly and then I want to move on to the Digital Railway. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Very quickly, yes.  Is there an intention or is there potential for the Barking Riverside 

extension to be extended further under the river - or indeed over the river and probably under the river - to 

Thamesmead?  Is the extension being built with that in mind as a potential future extension? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  All things are 

possible.  However, in this particular instance, it will be quite a ride or at least the gradients involved to go 

down under the river at that particular location.  Otherwise, you would have to have a bridge that was a long 

way up to maintain shipping.  The gradients would be quite spectacular.  Yes, it is possible and, yes, it would 

be neat strategically, but it would be hard in practical terms and by hard that also often means quite expensive. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Lovely.  Thank you very much.  We are going to move on to the Digital 

Railway now and that is very good because I know Michèle had some comments on this and so it is perfect 

timing.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes.  A couple of weeks ago the Committee went to a site visit with Network Rail 

and so the Committee knows about the traditional block system of signalling and the move towards digital 

signalling with greater automation means that you can get more trains closer together.  Could I ask you to 

explain briefly to us - I am going to go for Network Rail first and then Paul - what tangible benefits this will 

deliver for passengers and are you able to quantify it?  I know from the briefing you sent yesterday that you 

expect 70% of all passenger journeys to be covered in the next Control Period by some form of digital 

technology.  What does that mean for London?  I do not know who wants to start first.  Mark? 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  I will kick this one off.  Yes, with the Digital 

Railway, we are on the cusp of something very exciting and quite new that will have, as you have already 

mentioned, benefits in terms of capacity and being able to fit more trains on the network.  There will be 

benefits in terms of a reduction in delay and there will also be a safety benefit, the majority of which will be 

delivered from removing traffic lights that sometimes drivers overshoot. 

 

The thing I would say moving specifically to your question is what that means in terms of benefits.  If we look 

at Thameslink, for instance, at quite a high level the expectation there is that the introduction of digital 

signalling and the European Train Control System (ETCS) there will enable the number of services at peak times 

of the day to increase by roughly 50%.  That gives you the scale of magnitude of the capacity gain that you 

would have there. 

 

As we go further out and we are looking, as you have mentioned, to 2034 and this pipeline that we are 

constructing at the moment, it becomes slightly more difficult to throw our hat on the precise benefits that we 

will get from this, but what I would say is that there is a process linked to the way in which these schemes are 

going to be funded of very forensically interrogating the scope of schemes and the benefits that will be 

flowing from them because that ultimately leads you to an investment decision whether to go ahead or to try 

something a little bit different. 

 

Page 25



 

 
 

I do not want to throw numbers into the wind willy-nilly here, but if we looked at a scheme that we are 

extremely keen on that is not yet funded, which is putting in-cab signalling on the East Coast Main Line out of 

King’s Cross, what we would be aiming to achieve through that would be somewhere in the region of 1% to 

2% performance improvement through that.  However, as I have said, it is really as we get closer to the 

schemes themselves that are able to define the benefits and really do the sell in terms of the funding. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Paul, did you want to add anything to that? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Yes, please, I would love to.  First of all, from a 

customer or passenger point of view, they should not care how the trains are controlled and signalled, just as 

they should not care about what sort of power supplier they are using, but the fact is that use of digital 

technology is the cheapest and most effective way of delivering more frequent services, more capacity and 

more reliability and maintaining safety that we can do.  As well as that, renewing signalling across the railway 

with conventional technology would involve such a scale of work and the bow wave being pushed further out 

that it becomes hugely difficult to deliver.  Therefore, the important question really is about how we get from 

here, where we have been renewing with conventional technology, to renewing and expanding with new 

technology that gives us all of those benefits. 

 

The power of the recent statements of the obvious in terms of digital strategy, if you like, is actually those 

things we have said: that everybody was saying the same thing at the same time.  We have a strong pull from 

train operators who want more capacity on the infrastructure.  We have a strong pull from infrastructure routes 

saying, “We want to be able to offer that capacity”.  We have a strong pull from TfL and other authorities 

across the frontier, “We want more trains and more frequent services and this is the way that the railway 

believes it can be best delivered”.  We have a challenge from the Government to say, “There is a funding 

question and, if this is the cheapest way of doing it, let us move from here to there as quickly as we can”.  

 

The other opportunity that exists is that of exports.  We have the opportunity because we have a greater need 

than many other countries to deliver this technology in an operationally intense, mixed-use railway to do that 

and then to be able to export those skills across the world. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  The analogy is 

highly imperfect but this is what Digital Railway has given for the Underground.  The Victoria line used to run 

at 28 trains an hour and it now runs at 36.  We want to run 36 trains an hour.  There is a train every 100 

seconds.  You see the taillights of the next train disappearing even as the headlights of the one behind come 

into the station.  We want to run that for three hours in the morning peak starting next year and that is pretty 

good.  The journey times end-to-end are about 15% faster.  I am slightly loath to mention this, but if you look 

at the reliability of the Victoria line compared to the manually driven lines, you will see a big difference there, 

too. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Can I ask, again, Paul and Mark to start with, how confident are you that this will be 

delivered?  Certainly, for example, in CP6, there is going to be some targeted deployment to sort out some of 

the major pinch-points, but the Committee has recently heard that the traffic management system (TMS) 

through the central section of Thameslink has now been delayed.  We have been hearing about digital 

technology for quite a while now.  How confident are you that you can actually deliver? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Maybe I will kick off.  The recent statement on the 

Strategy is really powerful in that sense of not just being a statement of the obvious but everyone is saying it.  

What that leads to is the Digital Railway Programme Team, which is part of Network Rail but really is an 

Page 26



 

 
 

industry programme, everybody getting behind that, the supply chain engaging with it much more at an early 

stage of development to inform it, and routes and the operators who are going to have to work with this, 

engage with it.  The power of that is that we no longer have people looking from the side.  We have everybody 

saying, “We want this to happen”, and engaging with it in a way that will create a much more deliverable 

programme.  We can learn from many of the issues we have had in the railway before in terms of making sure 

we really are ready with that, but it has the power to deliver more.  Actually, the alternatives are even more 

challenging. 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  At some point in the next 15 years, somewhere in 

the region of 60% of the UK’s conventional signalling systems will need replacing.  That is at a cost of 

somewhere in the region of £20 billion.  We have a choice as an industry whether to spend that £20 billion on 

replacing like-for-like what is already there or harnessing the possibility that the Digital Railway offers us. 

 

Paul has already mentioned the supply chain.  The team in Network Rail is extremely heavily engaged with the 

supply chain in conversation about the vision and where we would ultimately like to get to with this.  The 

indications we have had from that supply chain are very optimistic, provided we engage early and have a long-

term plan.  That gives us a benefit not only in terms of confidence in delivery but also in terms of cost.  If we 

can commit to some of those long-term relationships because, you know, one scheme, one scheme, one 

scheme, then that will, we hope, drive out a cost reduction. 

 

Yes, technology is there.  You mentioned Thameslink.  We do not look at what is happening only within 

London or within the UK.  There is extensive engagement through the European Rail Authority.  We talk to 

people particularly in some of the Scandinavian countries and in Spain about what they are doing. 

 

I suppose the final point I would like to make, really, is to echo one that Paul has made, which is about this 

cross-industry alignment.  We need to find those sweet spots where signalling renewal is due to happen at 

about the same time as a franchise commitment to deliver new rolling stock.  There is the will there at the very 

top of our industry to do that.  You have this commitment that all new signalling renewals will be either digital 

or digitally enabled and all new rolling stock will be either ready or ready to be converted.  Those things being 

true, I am fairly confident that we are setting out on something that in 20 years’ time will mean we have a very 

different rail network. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  You have talked about talking to other countries.  Have you been talking to - I 

presume you have - TfL and are you sharing lessons learned and looking at other countries and finding out 

how you can exchange best practice?  I do not know who wants to go first. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  With TfL, 

Network Rail now employs David Waboso [Managing Director, Group Digital Railway, Network Rail], who 

applied this to a number of lines including the Northern, the Jubilee and the Victoria, and indeed some other 

members of his one-time team at London Underground.  It might sound facetious, but for that reason and the 

ongoing contact between our organisation on a day-to-day basis, we apply a lot of lessons between ourselves, 

although, as I say, the analogy between a metro railway and a heavy railway is highly imperfect and there are 

lots of different operating characteristics that one must take account of. 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  As well as that metro versus heavy rail distinction, 

there is a difference between us and many other countries.  We have a very intensive, mixed-use railway with 

Victorian infrastructure that we need to get more out of.  In many cases, where the technology is being applied 

in other countries, it is on new lines with far greater simplicity, not quite on the level of metro but similar in 

Page 27



 

 
 

some ways.  You have high-speed services on dedicated tracks and the issues are different.  We have a 

different need and a greater need and I would say, therefore, a greater opportunity.  Notwithstanding all of 

that, absolutely, we are engaging with all of those companies that are doing it elsewhere. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Michèle, can I ask you about Crossrail 2?  When it finally gets the go-ahead, will it 

be a fully digital railway from start to finish? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  It is worth reminding everyone 

that it is work we have done with Network Rail and we work jointly with Network Rail and Network Rail 

colleagues sit with us in the team developing the scheme.  All the work that has been done by Network Rail on 

the Digital Railway and David Waboso’s work is reflected in the work that we are doing. 

 

Importantly, how the scheme will operate has been taken into account at the early stages of design so that we 

can understand when the different signalling systems are in place and how Crossrail 2 will interact with those 

different systems.  Ideally, you would want to assume it was all digitalised, but given that these things might 

be done in stages, then the trains and signals have to be able to operate under some different systems.  

Making sure that that work is understood now and the infrastructure that is required to help that now is really 

important. 

 

One of the things that we have learned is ensuring that we can provide some additional infrastructure to help 

the benefits of Digital Railway actually be realised.  It is not just a case of making sure that the trains and the 

signals work in that way but some additional infrastructure is required to support that.  We have done our work 

on the assumption that the Digital Railway will be in place which will enhance the frequency of service on the 

fast lines coming in from the south west in particular, but Crossrail 2 is still adding a far greater increase in 

capacity over and above that through the physical infrastructure that it provides. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  If we look at the London Overground, the reality is that over the 

last few years since that has been devolved, it has been quite a success in London.  We have seen              

high-frequency trains, high-capacity carriages, staffed stations, which is quite important, improved station 

facilities and improved safety and accessibility.  Your customers and your passengers, our constituents, all they 

want is a reliable service, which they are paying for.  The recent fiasco with the rail timetable changes has seen 

a lot of chaos where we are seeing things are not working.  One of the solutions, which a number of people 

including the previous Mayor has been calling for, is for some of those services to be devolved down to 

London and TfL.  In the MTS it states: 

 

“Devolution would enable the Mayor to put in place better incentives for the franchisee to deliver the 

same reliability standards as London Overground, and to specify improved service frequencies ...” 

 

That is all customers want.  What more do you think the Mayor needs to do to get that message across? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Shall I have a go 

at that?  What more does the Mayor need to do?  It is a message that we have consistently made under various 

Mayors for quite a long time and the last time was not so very long ago with respect to the refranchising of the 

Southeastern.  This was in October 2016.  We put together - I would say this since I wrote it - a 111-page 

document that sets out in immense depth at the civil servants’ behest why we should take that on.  Again, you 

Page 28



 

 
 

can take this as the propaganda it may well be, but I never had a particularly good or compelling or indeed any 

reason why that was rejected on any rational grounds. 

 

What more can we do?  All right.  The Thameslink-Southern-Great Northern (TSGN) franchise comes up for 

reletting in September 2021.  It may well be - because the DfT has said that it is thinking hard - that GTR 

might be, quote marks, “stripped of its franchise”, close quote marks, in advance of that.  That is a possibility.  

Because we know the refranchising is heaving onto the horizon, people like me are thinking hard about how 

one might do this sensibly.  Amongst the things that one needs to do, in a transfer of this sort, there is a very 

large number of different things that one needs to prepare for.  There are literally thousands of contracts for 

everything from track access to the staff canteen that need to be considered and split in the most sensible 

way. 

 

It is a matter of public record that the DfT will be splitting up the TSGN franchise.  I have read it in the Sunday 

Times and so it must be true.  Therefore, we want to be part of the study that the DfT will be undertaking, as 

we understand it, to look at how that is most sensibly done.  That study is called a remapping study.  The 

Secretary of State has made some reference in the fairly recent past to the possibility of, for example, the 

contracting authority for the services out of Moorgate, which are currently part of TSGN, becoming part of 

TfL’s remit instead.  Therefore, what more needs to be done is that we need to go through the couple of 

thousand contracts or so with respect to that part of the railway to work out how we do that.  To do that, I 

need the active co-operation of my colleagues at the DfT and colleagues at the GTR because I will need to 

know the absolute details of how that part of the railway works in terms of the trains, the depots, the stations 

and everything else that one needs to consider to make sure it is a functioning railway at the moment of 

transfer and beyond. 

 

Also - and you will see all of this in the MTS - as you have already read out, on page 183 there is a map of 

what other parts of the railway network could perhaps transfer feasibly across in terms of the contracting 

authority from the DfT to TfL.  Amongst those are the London local services from London Bridge and Victoria 

to places like Sutton and Croydon, and we need to do the same exercise for that as well.  That is a much bigger 

exercise than Moorgate, which is a relatively self-contained part of the network, but we need to do that as 

well.  That is another part of what we need to do and we will need all of your support and many others beyond 

in that endeavour.  Does that help? 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  I am sure I am not speaking out of turn in terms of the Chair, but I 

think you definitely have all our support across the table on this. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Hear, hear. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Absolutely. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  It is an issue and in terms of who is in control and which 

department is looking at it, all of the party politics has to come out of it because ultimately it is about the 

services that customers are paying for and not actually receiving. 

 

The other thing I wanted to add is that you mentioned the massive work behind the scenes and the scale of all 

the different contracts from track control right through to who is managing the canteens, but do you have any 

additional information or understanding on some of the infrastructure investment that may need to go into 

some of these services if they are successfully devolved down to TfL? 

 

Page 29



 

 
 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  For the 

Moorgate services, it is relatively modest, but Mark has touched on some of it, namely that there is a possible 

scheme to digitise the signalling on the Moorgate branch, which will allow us to increase frequencies there. 

There will also be works taking place on an additional platform at Stevenage.  GTR has a set of rolling stock on 

order already which will be compatible with these new bits of infrastructure.  There are potential enhancements 

which can be made there. 

 

For the local routes out of Victoria and London Bridge, I have touched on it in answer to Steve’s question.  The 

single biggest infrastructure intervention there are the works in and around Croydon, both the station and the 

junction, the legendary Windmill Bridge slightly further north of Croydon, which would enable a more intense 

service to operate than is currently the case.  It needs many other things to do as well such as turn-backs at 

various locations - Belmont, Cheam, Wallington and so on and so forth - would need a fit-for-purpose fleet of 

rolling stock for the reasons I described earlier and would need to change some of the operating philosophies 

about how long trains stay in stations and provide that level of urgency that characterises a metro and which 

does not characterise some of the operations at the minute.  They are all perfectly possible and they are all 

part of the benefits that I would set out in making the case for this to my colleagues in the DfT and the Mayor 

to the Secretary of State when this occurs. 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  Could I just record the Network Rail perspective 

on this?  We, in my view, work extremely closely and extremely well with the current TfL concessions at 

London Overground and TfL Rail.  We need to work even harder.  This is, after all, about getting people from A 

to B.  There are lots of people day-to-day in Network Rail who are working extremely hard with colleagues in 

those concessions to make that happen. 

 

In the longer term as well, there are some really strong working relationships.  Earlier on, we touched on the 

East London line and the scheme there to deliver improvements.  There is a positive working relationship there 

that we can really build on. 

 

Ultimately, Network Rail needs to take a system-wide approach.  That is why we have the system operator.  As 

well as all of the services within London, we are concerned to look at what is coming in and going out as well.  

Whatever happens in relation to this debate, on which we as an organisation do not have a view, we would 

want to retain that system operator function that has the pan-system of view of planning moving into the 

future. 

 

The other point I would make is just to go back to Network Rail devolution.  We have embarked upon this 

programme of change, becoming a more locally responsive organisation, and irrespective of what happens on 

this particular debate, we are beginning to really be much more focused and much more agile when it comes to 

delivering the kinds of improvements within London and the lines within London that people want to see. 

 

Florence Eshalomi AM (Deputy Chair):  I will leave it there because I know there are some other Members 

who want to come in. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Paul, did you want to come in? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Network Rail has already spoken on its behalf as 

one of my members.  If you like, on behalf of the rest of my members, particularly the train operators - and this 

is not misaligned with Network Rail - certainly as a general point, where it makes sense to devolve 

accountability for franchising or whatever we want to call it locally, our members would all be very supportive 

Page 30



 

 
 

of that.  It is a general point about getting the local infrastructure aligned with the local authorities, whoever 

they might be, with the local operators focused on customers and communities and what they need locally.  

That is something really powerful, albeit within a network context. 

 

The second point I would make, though, is that changing that in isolation does not necessarily solve all the 

problems we have with the railway and it is important to be realistic and honest about that.  In whatever way 

we organise, there are big issues with decades of underinvestment which we need to address, the things that 

you have all been raising.  It does not solve all the ills.  It may not. 

 

Also, there are important points which Geoff [Hobbs] has alluded to in terms of which services it makes most 

sense to do differently or might in the context of it being a network.  I have already mentioned that we have a 

very intensive mixed-use railway with long-distance business and leisure, longer-distance commuting,    

shorter-distance commuting and freight.  If we are going to devolve more accountability locally, then we do 

need to make sure that we segment things sensibly and not create unhelpful interfaces for customers in that.  

However, we do all of that, making the partnership between the different parts of the railway work effectively, 

be it infrastructure or operations, is key.  Those issues apply regardless of what decisions are made by the 

Government about how it wants to devolve those accountabilities.   

 

Finally, I would just say that again, however those decisions are made, there is nothing to stop anybody, be it 

TfL or anybody, saying, “We want to procure additional services or additional infrastructure”, even if they are 

not the franchising authority.  There are ways we can make it work and need to make it work regardless of 

those decisions.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My question is for Geoff.  It is about the Moorgate services and the Great Northern 

Line.  Even before the timetable fiasco we had real issues about reliability on that line.  I have been lobbying 

for a number of years now for it to be devolved and have recently written to the Secretary of State again 

urging them.  I was very concerned that the Secretary of State in Parliament said that, yes, one option was to 

devolve to TfL but the other option was to parcel it up with the new London North Eastern Railway (LNER) 

West Coast Line, which seems to me making the mistakes of the past.  Is that your view as well, or not? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  It could go 

either way.  It is not a done deal.  It would be a mistake to parcel it up with the East Coast operator because 

they will put their time and energy into the longer-distance routes where there is a lot more discretionary travel 

and where the average fare for London to Edinburgh is unsurprisingly a darn sight higher than it is to 

Alexandra Palace.  It would be a mistake commercially, operationally and from all customer perspectives, 

absolutely.   

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My final question is: apart from the Secretary of State for Transport, have you come 

across anyone who does not believe it should be devolved to TfL? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  I have but they 

are few and far between.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just to echo the comments made by my colleague, Florence [Eshalomi AM], there is a 

great deal of support for devolving the services down to TfL, locally run and looked at, but to what extent do 

you think the case needs to be made to the Government that the Chair of TfL will be a good custodian of this 

considering the pressures that TfL budgets have because of decisions he has made?  Do you think there is an 

Page 31



 

 
 

argument for the Government to push back and say, “We are not particularly happy with how the finances are 

being looked after so why would we devolve more downward?” 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  If the question is 

one of how we are making priorities locally and whether the Department [for Transport] agrees with the 

priorities we make, that is the purpose of devolution in some sense, that decisions can be made more locally.  

You might agree or disagree with those.   

 

If it is about the state of the finances of TfL more generally and our financial management, I would have 

absolutely no problem defending that in terms of the volume of efficiencies that we have delivered over the 

years and the recent past, and the decisions that we have taken to get many more quarts out of the pint pot.  

We will have an affordable plan for these things.  We can afford to make the improvements that we want to 

make on behalf of the railway users of London, and it is a plan that will balance.  We will be able to defend that 

and show that it is value for money, that it will do good things for the London economy and the wider 

economy as well, and indeed square off the various trade-offs and interfaces that there are with a mixed-traffic 

railway, which is nothing new and which London Overground deals with on a daily basis on the East London 

line, North London line and elsewhere.  Whilst these are all legitimate questions, all of them have very 

compelling and relatively easy-to-make answers.  We have done that in the past and we shall do it again next 

time around. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  OK.  The arguments around TfL’s budgets and the efficacy of your forecast rise in income 

because of increased passenger volumes is a whole other argument but of course historically they have not 

been that accurate.  We were predicting very big rises in passenger numbers to cover what conceivably is a very 

large hole in TfL’s finances going forward.  If you are the Government, you may wonder how well all of that is 

going to pan out considering that ultimately the taxpayer would be left with any shortcomings.  Around this 

table there is a great deal of support for that, a great deal of support, but we need to make the case that TfL is 

run in a generally good way in order to take on these new bits of devolution.  To my mind, some of them look 

quite complicated.  It looks like we have all the low-hanging fruit and the next set may be slightly more 

difficult to deal with.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  On forecast 

accuracy, we talked a bit earlier about the fact that certainly in the noughties, if I can use such a term, we 

under-forecast the rise in demand.  If you look at the MTS back in that period of time, the level of population 

growth and the level of employment growth outstripped what the London Plan said and, therefore, people like 

me under-forecast the amount of trips.   

 

More generally, on the Overground, I was in an idle moment yesterday looking at the forecasts that we made 

with respect to the Overground back in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012, around about then, and seeing whether 

they were worth the paper they were written on.  Actually, they were pretty close.  Now, I might whisper it 

quietly that they might have been close for all the wrong reasons, but they were nonetheless reasonably close.   

 

For example, in 2012, when we were forecasting the impact of all the changes to the Overground, we were 

getting the extension of the East London line around to Clapham Junction, we were increasing the length of 

the trains, we were trying to forecast what was happening to population and employment around many of 

these routes which pass through a whole crop of Opportunity Areas.  The forecast for this year was 175 million 

trips for all the bits except West Anglia, which transferred later.  We are there or thereabouts.  We are about 

170 million, 173 million, something like that.  Not bad, I would say, on that particular occasion.   

 

Page 32



 

 
 

I am quite willing to defend our forecasting record.  What we set out as well in terms of forecasts for 

Southeastern when we were doing that was again perfectly defensible, and indeed more generally across our 

financial management as well.  We have a credible record.  I would say that, but looking at the evidence 

previously from people like Stephen Joseph [OBE, Chief Executive, Campaign for Better Transport], I do note 

that he said words along the same lines in your evidence session.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  I will stop there, Chair, because of time, but I will say this.  The forecast for the uplift in 

passengers on the Elizabeth line looks slightly optimistic to me, notwithstanding that TfL still has massive 

challenges around its budget.  They are material factors.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  We are going to be asking questions tomorrow at the Budget and 

Performance Committee on that subject.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you, Chair.  Do you think that the Mayor and indeed all of us here who make the 

case for devolution need to be talking more about outside of London and making the case for the benefits to 

those areas?  There has been this argument that has crept in that even though TfL or London Underground 

have been running services outside of London for well over 100 years there is an issue with accountability 

because TfL and the Mayor are not accountable to them, although you could ask how accountable the 

Ministers in the DfT are to these areas. 

 

Do you think we and the Mayor need to be making more of a case and winning over Members of Parliament 

(MPs)?  A lot of local authorities around London are won over already but should we be making the case of the 

benefits to those areas?  They are not going to miss out on services.  They are actually going to benefit from 

TfL running their services.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, absolutely.  

I might not often say this but I would direct you to [The Rt. Hon] Grant Shapps MP’s Twitter feed.  He is MP 

for Welwyn Hatfield.  He is one such example of an extremely enthusiastic person in support of the transfer of 

the Moorgate services, for example.  We had a letter from Hertfordshire County Council not very long ago 

saying a version of the same thing.  Your point absolutely applies.  Yes, we need support from outside.  We had 

that support for the Southeastern attempt in 2016 and that counted not only for relevant MPs but also for 

user groups as well.  The answer is yes. 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  It comes back to the point that it is ultimately a 

network.  We have some hugely valuable and very scarce capacity that we need to get more out of.  Reference 

the previous discussions.  We need to use that capacity for the commuting services Geoff is highlighting here 

but also those longer-distance flows in the East Coast, very long-distance flows, and business.  It is hugely 

important for our economy as a whole.  The reason why I say all of that again is because it is relevant, while 

giving the assurance that there is a way of balancing and making sensible choices about the best use of that 

capacity.  Rather than one group of people saying they want it, it is another group of people saying, “How do 

we decide that based on what it delivers for our economy as a whole?”  That is part of the way of addressing 

your question.   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  It is worth noting, say on Crossrail 

2, that some of the trains on the suburban branches in the southwest will become Crossrail 2 trains.  They will 

be running from outside of London, coming into London.  They will be run by the same service, all branded in 

the same way.  Even though we have been asked by many people, “Can you not extend the services further 

afield?  Can you not come further out?” actually what they do want is more longer-distance non-stopping 

Page 33



 

 
 

trains rather than the Crossrail 2 trains.  The Crossrail 2 trains are good for serving those centres just outside of 

London with the services that they require but by building the Crossrail 2 infrastructure we at the same time 

enable an increase in those faster mainline services.  We are helping both passengers, the longer-distance 

passengers and importantly the passengers outside of London who are closer to London and actually want a 

stopping service, as well as those inside of London.  It addresses all three users.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  That is good. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  That is a very good point, yes. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Another reason it is a win-win project.  Fantastic.  We have two 

sections left, Members.  We have a Rail Strategy for London and, Keith, you are going to lead this off.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you, Chair.  This is a question for the whole panel, really.  I have to say that 

normally I ask open questions, but on this question I want to ask a closed question.  I just need a simple yes or 

no.  On a lighter note, in light of the [World Cup semi-final] game tonight for England, Rupert, is it coming 

home? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Keith, yes, it is coming home.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Mark? 

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  Of course.  Of course, Keith. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Paul? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Yes.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Geoff? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Definitely. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Michèle? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  I hope so; otherwise, my house 

will be rather miserable tonight.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Thank you very much.  Thank you.  Getting to the serious point, the Rail Strategy for 

London is the question, is it not?  Why is there no single Rail Strategy for London?   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  There is a Rail Strategy for 

London because the MTS reflects not just what the Mayor can do inside of London but also reflects the 

ambitions from beyond London.  If you look at the Strategy, it is about improving things in London but also 

the wider region of London and the connections that need to be made between London and places further 

afield.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  There is a lot of 

cross-working between Rupert [Walker] and me and our teams, such that he had lots of input into this, if I may 

Page 34



 

 
 

say so, and I have quite a lot of input into the stuff Rupert does, notably the route studies, which are 

absolutely essential.  Indeed, the route studies provided a lot of the research and intellectual rigour behind 

schemes that get a mention in the MTS.  There might not be a single document but it amounts to the same 

thing in practice and it is very closely aligned.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  However, would it be helpful if there was a single document?  Clearly TfL has priorities and 

quite rightly Network Rail has priorities.  Definitely, the two cross over.  Would it not be helpful to have a 

single vision for London transport? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  The challenge is, Keith, that 

London is not an island, as we have been saying.  People have to travel in and out from, in some cases, great 

distances.  People who work in London, more than any other city in the country, choose to use rail to get to 

and from work, by a factor, and so it is absolutely vital that we continue to plan for and invest in enhancing the 

railway network.  That is why, as Geoff has said, we work absolutely hand-in-glove in terms of planning how 

that network needs to evolve.  The MTS that Geoff has referred to has close involvement from Network Rail in 

its development and the route strategies, which tend to look further afield, have close involvement from TfL in 

their development.  It is very difficult to segregate the two because of the fact that people are travelling across 

these boundaries every single day.  The final thing for me.  The thing we have in common is that we both want 

to deliver the very best service we can for the passengers who use the railway and that is what drives us to get 

the best out of the capacity we have. 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Moving on from that, how do the two of you, ie TfL and Network Rail, work together to 

prioritise what is the most important upgrade or the most important improvement needed? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Network Rail leads the 

industry-wide long-term planning process, which is a consultative and collaborative process that looks at rail 

demand, as we have spoken about, and identifies where the hotspots are and where demand for rail travel 

exceeds capacity.  That process involves TfL but also consultation with rail users and stakeholders around the 

patch.  Then we use those plans to identify and develop schemes and interventions, whether it is more trains, 

longer trains or changes to the infrastructure, that will provide benefits for passengers going forward.  It is a 

very collegiate and joined-up process in order to deliver better train services for passengers.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  How does that work with TfL?  If you look at the Anglia region, if I can call it that, where 

you have the start of the Elizabeth line, clearly when you are dealing with Tube lines there is hardly any 

interface between you but on what are called heavy rail lines, if you lengthen the stations that of course helps 

TfL but if you put new rolling stock on another area that does not help.  If you change the track layout, for 

instance, that would have a massive impact on TfL.  How do you liaise on that? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  We have already mentioned 

the devolution of Network Rail structure to route businesses.  The other thing that we did as part of that was 

to create the system operator function.  The system operator acts as the glue between all of the different 

routes with the interests of passengers and freight users at its heart, thinking about how we can get the best 

out of capacity.  That is the challenge, as you have quite rightly said, in terms of trying to balance the cost of 

any intervention, the performance you get and the capacity you have and could have in future.  That function, 

the system operator, is organised on a route basis.  Our teams work very closely with the route teams and also 

with TfL in terms of planning how those trade-offs get made.   

 

Page 35



 

 
 

We have adopted a different approach for the next Control Period.  Rather than making commitments at the 

beginning of the Control Period to deliver loads of projects for a certain amount of money, we are now working 

with Government funders and third-party funders to take decisions on a relatively incremental basis when we 

know we are ready to make a commitment and we understand what the benefits are of a particular scheme, 

what it is going to cost and when it can be delivered.  That business case approach to deciding which schemes 

should be prioritised and brought forward involves TfL in the decision-making process, so that we can get the 

best out of the network that we have.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Signalling is a good point.  If we look at the Elizabeth line, I believe two or three different 

signalling systems are going to be used there.  The Central line is going to be using a moving block system.  Is 

that correct?  To maximise the whole route, that would be the system you would want to use across the whole 

route.  However, because of constraints on what I will call the Anglian section, that is sticking to the old 

system.  How can you work with TfL to make those improvements strategically?  I can understand that a train 

coming from Norwich to Liverpool Street would not necessarily need that system but to maximise the use of 

the Elizabeth line the section up to Shenfield does need that.   

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  It is a really good question.  

For reasons that Mark [Farrow] has mentioned, there are different signalling systems on the Elizabeth line 

route.  Network Rail has been working really closely with the Elizabeth line team, originally Crossrail 1, since 

the very early days, ten or 12 years ago, in the development of the signalling system that will be used both 

within the central section, where a computer-based signalling system is deployed, and also as to how the trains 

will be controlled on either side on Network Rail’s infrastructure.  Obviously in the medium to longer term our 

goal is to move to a fully digital signalling system that is fully interoperable with the system through the 

central core.  One of the advantages of using digital signalling is that by buying European systems that have 

been developed and we know talk to each other, we should be able to avoid the issues of the interface 

between different systems.   

 

The point I would make is that we are working very closely together.  There are clearly challenges to overcome 

in terms of these different systems that exist at the moment.  We want to move towards a much more 

interoperable and integrated system in the future.   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  I was just going to say, in terms of 

prioritising and working together, that when we were looking at transport needs in London out to the 2030s, 

given that our philosophy is to maximise the potential of the network we have first, we identified that there 

was still a shortage in the southwest to northeast corridor and that physical interventions were needed to help 

address that.  At the same time Network Rail was doing its own work looking at its own routes across the 

country, particularly in the southwest corridor and in the West Anglia corridor, and the options they had to 

improve those aligned with the sort of thinking that we had.  They needed some physical intervention to solve 

their problems and we needed physical intervention to solve ours.  We prioritised doing that work together.  It 

is that close working and close set of objectives that is important.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  It means that 

idea generation is done collectively.  We have a model that we all buy into and use.  We have a common 

methodology.  That means that when it comes to picking the priorities from the long list that is generated from 

that process, we have stuff that is, more often than not, all in apples rather than apples and pears.  Therefore, 

the decision-making across our organisations is relatively simple and straightforward, and therefore one can 

come up with what the priorities are for the short, medium and long-term.  Hence Crossrail 2 in the long run as 

opposed to Brighton Main Line more in the here and now.   

Page 36



 

 
 

 

Keith Prince AM:  Good.  Moving on from that, Geoff, how do those priorities fit in with the larger priorities 

for London such as housing and employment? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  In taking 

account of the costs and benefits of these schemes, one of the things one needs to do is make sure that there 

is some form of strategic fit with the London Plan and what is going on with Opportunity Areas.  I described 

earlier how one can look at these individually or one can look at these as a collective, but absolutely we take 

account in our modelling and our methodology of where growth is expected to happen, be it population, be it 

employment or be it anything else.  One needs to check that each of these Opportunity Areas is suitably firing 

on all cylinders and, where they are not, why they are not.  If they are transport shortfalls or things that are not 

working well enough, then we come up with potential solutions through this process, first a long list, then a 

shorter list, and eventually a set of priorities for what we want to take forward and put resources from one or 

both of our organisations into.  Writ large, that is Crossrail 2, where one looks across a very large corridor, 

northeast to southwest. 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  The whole region.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Writ small, that 

means individual Opportunity Areas in a much more concentrated, focused fashion as well.  It works quite well 

from that perspective.   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  There is an increased emphasis on 

supporting and enabling housing to happen, as much as there is in terms of improving transport connections to 

jobs.  It is making sure that there are homes for people to live in and they can access jobs so that they are 

employed.  That linkage is quite strong.  It was a key driver for the Gospel Oak to Barking extension so that 

those homes could be built. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Just continuing in the same vein, at present how well do national services integrate with 

other modes of transport in London from a timetabling point of view and in the physical interface?  We talked 

earlier on about access and so on.  How well are those systems working?  What part of your organisation looks 

at that and tries to plan that into the future? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  The system operator function 

that I mentioned just now is responsible for the national timetable, for developing that and making sure that it 

works.  A part of that is thinking about the whole journey and how people are going to interchange.  We spoke 

earlier on about the importance of the interchange and considering all the modes that people want to move on 

to.  We see some great opportunities in some of the stations that we have spoken about - for example, 

Victoria, East Croydon, Clapham Junction - to really improve the interchange, and the timetable will be a key 

part of that.  Understanding how the interchange will work and then making sure that the physical interchange 

will work, that there is sufficient space for people to move around the station, wait for their train and also get a 

coffee or whatever is appropriate, is built into the planning of those developments.  It is an integrated process.   

 

Because we brought the timetabling function within Network Rail together with the planning function, we 

have that feedback from the operation of the railway and the understanding of what is happening on the 

ground, day-to-day, feeding back right through into the planning of new infrastructure, new stations and 

changes to stations.   

 

Page 37



 

 
 

Shaun Bailey AM:  These conversations are routinely and regularly had with TfL? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Geoff [Hobbs] and his team 

are in the room, figuratively or literally, in these discussions. 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  There are also lots of direct 

discussions about where there is a main rail station improvement about the ongoing mode of transport for 

passengers arriving there, whether it is via the Underground and whether there is sufficient capacity to get to 

the Underground, whether it is by bike, whether it is by bus, whether it is by taxi, to make sure those further 

modal provisions are provided for.   

 

The other thing to mention in terms of national rail travel coming into termini in central London is that 

something such as Crossrail 2 is going to provide huge relief to Liverpool Street, huge relief to Waterloo and 

will provide the relief that is needed at Euston when the High Speed 2 (HS2) trains come in as well.  It is 

working together to make sure we can address those.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  The question I am asking though, is: is this just because you all happen to have a great 

relationship or do you have an actual mechanism?  Imagine one of your respective organisations has a task it 

has to achieve.  How does Crossrail 2 immediately involve Network Rail or TfL?  Is it natural or is it 

personnel-driven?  What is the mechanism to make sure that you are bringing all of your organisations’ needs 

to the bigger conversation readily?  What does that mechanism look like? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  It is both those things.  We all 

know that a successful project is built on common objectives but also the people who deliver it.  The 

relationships are really important.  We must not underestimate that.  The joint planning process, the long-term 

planning process that I mentioned, which involves everybody and is as consultative and as collegiate as 

possible, is intended to draw in that involvement and make sure that it is happening on a continuous, year in, 

year out process.  Then lastly on Crossrail 2, Network Rail is working in partnership with TfL.  As Michèle [Dix] 

has said, we have people in the team working together side by side to make sure that those issues that you 

have mentioned are addressed both from the TfL and Network Rail perspective in the context of Crossrail 2. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  See, that is what I wanted to hear.  I wanted to hear that you have a team and there is 

someone representing everybody’s organisations in that room to say, “OK, let us try to build a common end 

point”.  It was interesting hearing the work you talked about with HS2.  It also sounded like the extra 

infrastructure that you were about to build, just by happenstance, was going to help everybody else.  I wanted 

to realise, if we are spending that amount of money, there is no happenstance.  At no point should anything 

magical happen because it has been planned by every team.  That is what I was going for.   

 

In essence you have probably answered my last question but: has TfL been working with Transport for the 

South East to secure better rail services for London and the southeast?  Keith [Prince AM] talked about the 

Anglian region and so on.  Is there any idea or a backroom solution that says you are looking at the entire 

southeast, fixing a plan for the entire southeast?  It seems to me that if we have London as an island in the 

middle we become a problem because we are always working for our own endpoint and not including other 

people.  Quite frankly, a large number of those people come here on a daily basis.  Who is looking at the entire 

picture?  Again, I want to hear that it is a deliberate thing, not just because you all happen to like each other.   

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  From the Network Rail 

perspective, and Geoff [Hobbs] can pick up TfL, we work closely with Transport for the South East.  We were 

Page 38



 

 
 

involved in their launch.  My team works with their team hand-in-hand and goes to their regular meetings so 

that we can be involved in the planning process.  We are supportive of that organisation and what they 

represent and are keen to have joined-up plans with them.  We see it as a growing and building relationship, a 

really important one.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  Is there any scope for forming my imaginary organisation of all of you together in a room?  

Is there any idea that that should be done officially, that you should get together in some official capacity for 

the entire southeast region to figure out all of our problems around transport? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I would say that we do come 

together quite regularly through a number of different forums, both in a rail capacity directly but also in a 

transport capacity, to make sure that there is cross-fertilisation and that we understand issues.  Network Rail is 

considering how to broaden its planning ability to make sure that it is much more inclusive and involves local 

authorities and local enterprise partnerships (LEPs).  Those forums do exist and we do work together closely in 

them.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  You are comfortable that we do not need to have a south England network planning 

body? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  The virtual institutionalisation of exactly what you 

are getting at, I think, is already there.  It is not a body but the institutional process in terms of the relevant 

people from the relevant bodies coming together, being forced together whether they like each other or not, is 

there.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM:  That is the question.  I am just trying to understand because it seems like there are all 

these little piecemeal things.  The example you gave earlier on was great.  It gave an example of where you had 

come to a nice mutual understanding that was going to work for everyone.  Politics teaches you to look for the 

points where you do not have an understanding and who is going to resolve that in the speediest fashion.  

That is why I want to understand that you are comfortable as professionals that that virtually exists and that is 

good enough to achieve these tasks.  That is enough from me, Chair.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  I just want to pick something up.  How do the train operators and 

others input into this?  The train operators are running the services.  Do you have the opportunity when 

developing strategies or whatever to feed in your views? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  The process that we have been talking about 

includes them in all of that.  Network Rail, on behalf of all of the mainline rail companies, including the 

operators, manages that process.  In a sense it is part of Rail Delivery Group that it does that.  They are 

involved in that.  There is a long-term planning and strategic element but the extra layer, if you like, is that to 

varying degrees in different parts of the railway, when you go out for competitions you want innovation from 

the market.  That is an extra layer on some of this in some cases, where people in a competitive process are 

coming up with different ideas.  That should be built upon the long-term strategic planning process that they 

are already involved in.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Now we will move to our final section.  We have talked 

about all these wonderful things all morning but how do we fund London’s rail network? 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Can I just ask a quick point on the interchange first? 

Page 39



 

 
 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Of course you can, Tom. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  Were you just talking about interchange between rail services or do you look at 

the interchange with buses and things like that as well? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  It is completely intermodal.  

Transport interchange.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Intermodal.  One of our previous investigations was into the future of rail, looking partly at 

data.  How helpful would it be to get some of that Citymapper data back when it comes to planning rail 

services and interchanges between other modes of transport? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Citymapper data relies on 

timetabling data and information that comes from rail operators and from TfL.  In a sense, it becomes a bit 

circular.  The other point is that certainly in the Network Rail stations - I will let Geoff pick up on the TfL ones 

- we regularly count the number of passengers going in and out and understand their movements.  In fact, at 

Waterloo and also at Clapham Junction we are in the process of installing some really high-tech passenger 

movement sensors so that we can understand how crowds move during normal operation and in times of delay, 

so that we can better manage the process through the station.  Geoff, do you want to pick up on TfL? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  We also have 

the means to turn counts at particular points into matrices of how many people are going from where to where 

else.  You can trace those through from one part of the transport network to another, reflecting the fact that 

there are a large number of trips that go from the Underground to heavy rail, DLR, buses or whatever.   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  Or walk. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Yes.  I would not 

say that all this is perfect.  It is an aspect of big data that people like me have an immense interest in, to try to 

do that.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  You have wi-fi data as well, do you not, to see how people are moving in the network? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  We do within 

the Underground.  In the Underground you have lots of different route choices.  Oyster will tell you where 

people tap in and tap out.  Oyster will also infer where people tap out if, like on a bus, they do not have to.  

Oyster will not tell you where they are walking to and from and it will not tell you how they are making their 

way through.  If you are going from Stratford to Bond Street you have two ways, Central and Jubilee, at the 

moment, and a third way in the Elizabeth line fairly shortly.  You can use various means, of which wi-fi is one, 

to work that kind of stuff out, which is important for people like me because I want to know how many trains 

to run.  We are getting better at being able to join the dots between the different modes.  Walking is a bit 

harder because you do not need an Oyster card to go walking, but it is still possible with various other sources. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  TfL supply data to different organisations such as Citymapper.  We supply that information 

for free, which is good because they then have their own apps.  As far as I understand it - I have met with 

Page 40



 

 
 

Citymapper - they would be quite willing to share their information.  Now, the information they have that you 

do not is that they do know where the person starts their journey and they do know where they get off the 

bus. 

 

Why do we not make more of an effort to work with them?  We give them free data.  I am sure that, in 

exchange, they would be prepared to supply certain data to yourselves.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Sadly not free 

from them, would be the answer.  We have a policy of giving free data through our feeds and many apps have 

resulted from that.  Citymapper of course have their own app.  They ask to track all of you - and myself, as it is 

on my phone as well - and they collect all that data but they are not so very munificent that they give it away 

for free, sadly.  While if they were able to do that I would be absolutely delighted, we have other methods 

which we feel are more cost-effective for trying to trace journeys.   

 

Keith Prince AM:  Has that conversation been had with Citymapper?  You supply free data to them.  Surely 

there must be some quid pro quo.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  You might have 

hoped so, but we have not managed to find it just yet.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  This is one of our recommendations in our Future Transport Report, 

that a condition of you giving the data for free is that you get anonymised data back from apps so that you 

can use it to help plan transport in the city.  I think we are going to be pursuing that further because it is very 

valuable.   

 

All right, let us look at funding all this.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  My question is: particularly with a lot of anti-London sentiment and a desire by 

Government not to be seen to be just funding things in London but to be funding things elsewhere, how are 

we going to secure funding for the rail improvement projects that we need? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  There are several points that 

are worth addressing in this really good question.  As we have already explained and demonstrated, it is 

essential that we keep investing in our transport infrastructure in London in order to keep the city moving so 

that it can continue to be an economic boost for the country.  There are different ways of doing that.   

 

I have explained a little bit about how at Network Rail we see blended funding, hybrid funding, different types 

of funding, as one way forward to make sure that we are able to continue the investment that we believe is 

essential.  That is a process of using funding from Government and funding from third parties.  We have 

established our Open for Business initiative and created roles for people in positions around the country to 

engage with organisations who are interested in investing in the railway.  That is not necessarily just about 

building new railway or new facilities on the railway, it is also about investing in building homes and 

commercial offices, especially where we can get a benefit for the railway out of building those homes.  An 

example could be at Twickenham, where there are 115 new homes being built and as part of that we are 

getting a new station and a fantastic gateway for the rugby stadium.   

 

Page 41



 

 
 

From our point of view, it is not an either/or.  It has to be about both investing in London and elsewhere in the 

country.  We need to make the case and the reasons why that investment is so important so that London can 

continue to be that economic boost for the country.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  There is the case of jobs as well.  Transport investment in London often creates wider 

economic benefits throughout the rest of the country.  There are the new Tube trains for London, which are 

being built in Yorkshire.  Any other thoughts on how we can make the case? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  There is making a strong 

economic case for investment to say that if you spend this money here you will get all these additional jobs 

and you will get all these economic benefits, but there is also finding the money upfront, the cash.  The 

challenge that London had, particularly for Crossrail 2, is to be able to fund half of the cost of the scheme.  It is 

to get Government support for half of the costs but also for London to find half of the costs of the scheme.   

 

We support investment in transport for the north and we are in lockstep with the Northern Powerhouse Rail 

but what we have identified to date are similar mechanisms to those that were in place for Crossrail 1, which 

includes those who benefit contributing to the scheme.  Businesses who benefit contribute to the business rate 

supplement.  Developers may benefit because the land that the railway goes through becomes more viable for 

development, so you continue with the Mayor’s Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  Also with a new scheme 

you are going to enable some oversight development that could take place above the station and on the 

worksites that you have had to use.  It is trying to make the most of those so that contributions for those can 

go towards the cost of the scheme.  Then finally, obviously, fair pay.  As people pay to use the service, we may 

take that net operating surplus and use that as well.   

 

However, there are other beneficiaries of the scheme who have not been earmarked to date to say that they 

should pay.  Because, as I said, Crossrail 2 is not just a London scheme, it is a regional scheme, there are 

beneficiaries outside of London as well as inside of London.  It is looking at mechanisms that perhaps could 

encourage contributions from outside of London.   

 

There is also the work that was done last year on land value capture because some of the beneficiaries of 

transport improvements are people who own existing properties, be they private properties or be they big 

commercial properties.  Some of the big estate owners have properties that go up in terms of their attraction 

because of the transport improvements.  They can charge increased rentals.  One wants to consider if there is a 

way of capturing the uplift that they will accrue.  All of these are mechanisms to consider as to how to fund 

these schemes.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Land value capture is something that I am quite interested in.  It is something I think there 

is some appetite in Government to explore and we have not been very good in the past at extracting some 

value of the people, the landowners, who really do benefit.  I did look on the work that TfL did on the 

Development Rights Auction Model (DRAM) and just as I got my head around it they decided that was not an 

appropriate way of funding transport infrastructure in London.   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  Not for certain sites.  It may well 

work in other locations.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  It may work in other locations?  Less urban locations? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  Yes. 

Page 42



 

 
 

 

Tom Copley AM:  What other forms of land value capture are you looking at?  We have heard that TfL are 

looking at a transport property charge.  Is that something that is similar to the old business rates levy or a form 

of mayoral CIL supplement?  What would that entail and how far would it extend?  There have been arguments 

about who directly benefits within London from it.  How far away from the route do you think you would need 

to go? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  In terms of the mayoral CIL, the 

consultation that was launched last year was to extend the mayoral CIL in terms of time so it could be used to 

help for Crossrail 2.  There is an equivalent CIL outside of London where there are beneficiaries.  Also, in terms 

of the business rate supplement, because businesses benefit, there is a proposal to continue that after it is 

finished being used for Crossrail 1.  The other forms of land value capture - those two are forms of land value 

capture - are, as you said, the DRAM model, or transport premium charges.  They are things that could be 

considered but they have pros and cons associated with them.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Presumably they would require the Government to legislate for you to -- 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  They would require legislation, 

yes.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes.  Is the only other way TfL can raise funds essentially road user charging or something 

like that? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  Road user charging is a 

mechanism for raising funds.  Certainly, the congestion charge was originally put in place and used to help 

generate additional funds to pay for public transport.  You can hypothecate it towards transport 

improvements.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Just turning to international comparisons, is there anything we can learn from other 

countries about how they fund new rail infrastructure, the different approaches they have taken and how 

applicable they could be to London? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  There are a whole array of 

different mechanisms that different countries use.  Some, like France, use payroll or employee taxes that they 

apply in terms of getting contributions.  They might have specific taxes on properties within the vicinity of the 

actual proposal, a bit like a land value capture or transport premium charge.  There are other cities elsewhere in 

the world which have used different mechanisms but it is whether or not they are appropriate in each of the 

locations within London.  It is not just a London issue, grappling with this.  East West Rail and the schemes up 

north will also be considering what mechanisms there are in place.  The estimated untapped land value uplift 

associated with Crossrail 2 was about £60 billion.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  How much of that do you think we actually managed to claw back for the taxpayer? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  The issue is that if a lot of that is 

associated with private residential properties, it is quite hard.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Yes.  Just quickly again in terms of authorities around London, how open do you think they 

would be about going to the Government and saying, “If this is going to make this happen, we will volunteer to 

Page 43



 

 
 

have some sort of charge?”  Is it important enough to them that they would be willing to make that sort of 

case? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  There is a huge amount of 

support that has been expressed in the counties and the districts outside of London, particularly for Crossrail 2.  

If the situation arises that we need sources beyond the ones that I have just described, there would need to be 

conversations.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Thank you.  I will turn now to the Government’s new RNEP.  I am wondering if our guests 

from Network Rail could tell us the opportunities and the challenges that will present for London. 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  I spoke a little about this new 

approach earlier on.  It is building on and learning from the experiences we have had in past Control Periods, 

instead of making a commitment on a five-yearly basis to a number of schemes that will be delivered.  That has 

had its successes in the past.  We are seeing Thameslink delivering its benefits and that project was planned 15 

years ago.  There has been some success, but learning from the experiences in the last Control Period we have 

now adopted an incremental approach to decision-making in terms of individual projects.   

 

That enables us to look at where we need to make an intervention, whether that is more trains, longer trains or 

a physical intervention on the infrastructure, look at where that is needed across the whole network, begin to 

prioritise them, form a pipeline of projects, develop business cases for those projects to understand the costs, 

the benefits and when they can be delivered, and then prioritise them in terms of the timing of the delivery, 

making the decision to deliver at the right point rather than just in five-yearly increments because that is how 

we do funding.   

 

We see it as a positive change to the way in which the railways can be funded going forward and also it 

supports the initiative to bring third party investment into the railways.  There are a number of schemes that 

we are looking at where we see a real opportunity for private investment in the railways to get improvements 

that otherwise just would not have been possible.  In particular, I point out rail access to the airports, to 

Heathrow especially.   

 

Something that Network Rail has been closely involved in is both the southern access to Heathrow and the 

western access.  On the southern access in particular, we are asking the market to come forward with their 

suggestions and proposals for how that could be built and also how it could be funded.  On the western 

access, although there is a scheme that is quite well developed and we are aiming to go for planning 

permission next year, we want to introduce third party delivery and potentially financing and funding to that 

scheme as well, so that we can learn from the innovation that private sector delivery would bring and also 

benefit from private sector financing.  Those are just two examples of schemes that we see can deliver things 

that otherwise just might not have been possible, given affordability issues. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Would it make it more difficult to plan, moving outside of the more rigid five-year Control 

Periods? 

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  As a planner, in some ways I 

think it makes it easier because we are able to identify, “In an ideal world one might do all of these things”, 

and then work out what the benefits are of each, what the relative priorities are of each and what the needs 

are of each.  We mentioned, for example, the south London stations earlier on, Denmark Hill, Peckham Rye 

and so on.  We are able to then bring these projects forward in a pipeline approach, demonstrate the case for 

Page 44



 

 
 

each of them and build support for them.  In this new process, stakeholder support from local authorities, from 

LEPs and from the rest of the industry is absolutely vital to demonstrate how important these schemes are, so 

that we are able to then get them delivered.  From my point of view, it will be working better than it has in the 

past.  It avoids us making commitments to deliver benefits way, way off into the future until we are ready and 

really understand that we can achieve them on time and on budget. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  OK.  Geoff, from a TfL perspective, do you think this is going to be an improvement in how 

rail infrastructure is paid for and does it present more opportunities for the Mayor and TfL to be involved in 

this process? 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Yes, it probably 

does, in the sense that you are making decisions in a more measured way rather than in five-yearly chunks.  

Things change.  They just do.  Events come along, demand changes and so on.  It is not without some concern 

that one loses a five-yearly look ahead but it has a lot of strengths as well.  My response, as you can hear, is 

somewhat on the fence on this one.  I can see why we are doing this and I can see the advantages of it.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  More flexible.  Greater flexibility. 

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Absolutely, yes.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Any other comments on this? 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  I would pick up Geoff’s point at the end there and 

say we must not lose a forward look.  Making decisions at the right time for the project is really important and 

that is one of the lessons but we must not throw out, the need for a rolling forward view, to your questions 

earlier, of what we need for a strategy for the whole of London and the southeast and the whole of the railway 

network. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  Do you think we need a further view ahead as well -- 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Absolutely.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  -- instead of just in terms of five years?  Paris Metro looks 20 or 25 years ahead, something 

like that.   

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  There is a difference in that context between the 

planning, the strategy, thinking, “What is it we want to do?  How are we going to get there?” and then making 

the case for funding.  The second bit previously was in five-year chunks and in some ways it was unhelpful 

because it forced people to plan in five-year chunks.  If we are separating out, “What is the strategy?  What is 

the plan?  When are we making decisions for projects and the funding of those projects?” I think it actually 

makes it cleaner.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  My final question is: what are the key projects for London that should be put forward for 

the RNEP?  I might just ask each of you for one, just to make you choose.  I will start with Michèle.  I wonder 

what Michèle will say.   

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  You know what I am going to say. 

 

Page 45



 

 
 

Tom Copley AM:  Crossrail 2.  There we are. 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  The biggest priority. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Are we going to get it, Michèle? 

 

Michèle Dix (Managing Director, Crossrail 2, Transport for London):  Yes.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  There we go.  Excellent.   

 

Geoff Hobbs (Director of Public Service Transport Planning, Transport for London):  Absolutely it is 

the biggest priority.  The thing that is a bit more here and now is Brighton Main Line. 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  Those were my two. 

 

Tom Copley AM:  They have been taken out of the pool now.  You can choose a different one. 

 

Paul Plummer (Chief Executive, Rail Delivery Group):  I was going to choose Brighton Main Line.  That is 

key in terms of unlocking a lot of that capacity.   

 

Mark Farrow (Director of London Rail, Network Rail):  On a stations point, Clapham Junction is a really 

big one.   

 

Rupert Walker (Strategy and Planning Director (South), Network Rail):  Showing how joined-up we 

are, those are the projects that I would have chosen.  I will only add, let us not forget the smaller stations, the 

south London stations in particular, where congestion is becoming a real issue.  We need to sort those out as 

well.   

 

Tom Copley AM:  Fantastic.  Thank you all very much.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM (Chair):  Thank you very much indeed.  We have taken a long time on all of that.  

There was some really useful evidence.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Michèle, for coming in halfway 

through and your contribution.  Geoff, Paul, Mark and Rupert, really helpful.  If there are thoughts you 

suddenly have afterwards that you wish you had mentioned and did not, please write to us. 

Page 46



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 12 September 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Transport Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 11 July 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

Future of Rail in London 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the final report of the investigation.  

 

Ongoing 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

8. Transport Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree: 

(a) A letter to the Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, Secretary 

of State for Transport, copied to the Office of Rail 

and Road, regarding service disruptions on the 

Govia Thameslink Railway network; and 

 

(b) A response to the Transport for London 

congestion charge consultation. 

 

 

 

Completed. Further 

details can be found at 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

This delegation will not 

be used.  

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 13 June 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

5. 

 

 

Future Rail in London 

David Leam, London First, to provide any best practice 

examples of digital railway use from around the world. 

 

 

 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any related site visits. 

 

Ongoing. The Chair 

wrote to guests to 

request this 

information on          

20 June 2018 

 

Completed. Further 

details can be found at 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

London First 

 

 

 

 

6. Transport Committee Work Programme 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the scope and terms of reference into an investigation 

into taxi and private hire services. 

 

Ongoing 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

7. London TravelWatch Performance Report and 

Recruitment 

The Chief Executive of London TravelWatch agreed to 

provide the Committee with further details of the 

timeline agreed with Transport for London (TfL) for 

implementing London TravelWatch’s recommendations 

on ticket offices across TfL. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Leads, to agree the 

recruitment process for three London TravelWatch 

Board positions, including Deputy Chair, due to expire 

at the end of the year. 

 

 

 

Ongoing. The Chair 

wrote to London 

TravelWatch on         

20 June 2018. 

 

 

Completed. The advert 

for these positions 

went live on 14 August 

2018. Interviews will 

take place in autumn 

and the outcome 

reported back to a 

suitable Committee 

meeting. Further 

details can be found at 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

London 

TravelWatch 

 

 

 

Principal 

Committee 

Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 48



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 16 May 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

Tube Delays 

The Director of Network Operations, TfL, to provide 

further details of TfL’s approach to assessing the impact 

of the Royal Wedding on central London. The 

Committee also requested clarity on the actions being 

undertaken on the District line in advance of the Four 

Lines Modernisation programme 

 

Completed. Attached 

at Appendix 1. 

 

 

TfL 

 

 

 

14. River Bus Services 

The Chief Executive of the Port of London Authority 

(PLA) to provide the following additional information: 

 A copy of The Thames Vision, which set out their 

assessment of capacity pinch points along the river; 

and 

 Details of the environmental study undertaken by 

the PLA to assess the effects of NOx exposure on 

the river and on land, including on staff. 

 

Managing Director, MBNA Thames Clippers, to share 

details with the Committee of the recent trial service to 

Gravesend. 

 

General Manager of Sponsored Services, TfL, agreed to 

consider whether TfL’s Business Plan would include 

interim targets for river bus journeys and to update the 

Committee. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the output from the meeting and any related site visits. 

 

 

The Chair wrote to 

guests to request this 

information on          

24 May 2018. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Completed. Further 

details are set out at 

Agenda Item 5.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



        

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 1 March 2018 

Item Topic Status For Action by 

6. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transport Commissioner 

The Transport Commissioner to arrange two briefings; 

one with the Committee and Gareth Powell, Managing 

Director for Surface Transport, TfL, to discuss the 

reconfiguration of bus services; and one with Assembly 

Member McCartney and Mark Wild, Managing Director 

of London Underground, to discuss complaints from 

residents about noise from the Night Tube at Seven 

Sisters. 

 

Completed. The 

briefing on bus 

services took place on 

4 September 2018.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 6 December 2017  

Item Topic Status For Action by 

8. 

 

 

 

 

Cycling Infrastructure 

The former Cycling Commissioner agreed to provide the 

Committee with the following: 

 The report for the National Infrastructure 

Commission on cycling once it has been finalised; 

and 

 A list of potential cycling schemes yet to be 

undertaken by the current administration. 

Closed 

The list of cycling 

schemes was reported 

to the Committee 

meeting on 10 January 

2018. The report of 

the NIC has yet to be 

published.  

Andrew Gilligan 

 
3. Legal Implications  
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
  

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

Appendix 1 – Letter from TfL, re 16 May 2018 Transport Committee meeting.  
 

 Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: MDA 939 (River Services); MDA 964 (LTW Recruitment);  

MDA 966 (DfT Letter); MDA 967 (Congestion Charge Consultation).  

Contact Officer:  Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 5526 

E-mail:   laura.pelling@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 50

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dear Caroline  
 
London Assembly Transport Committee – 16 May 2018 
 
Thank you for inviting us to the Transport Committee meeting on 16 May and for 
your follow up letter on 24 May. We are glad the committee found the discussion 
helpful. As requested, we are writing to follow-up with additional information on:  
 

1. Our detailed approach to assessing the impact of the Royal Wedding on 
central London 

2. An update on how well London’s transport network coped on the day 
3. Actions being undertaken on the District line in advance of the Four Lines 

Modernisation programme 
 
 
1. Our approach to assessing the impact of the Royal Wedding on central 

London 
 
TfL’s only planned closures were on the District and Circle lines for essential 
upgrade work, and on London Overground due to track works being carried out by 
Network Rail. We scheduled these essential upgrade works during that particular 
weekend to avoid other events which were expected to generate significant local 
demand. These include the Wimbledon Tennis Championships, Polo in the Park, the 
tennis championships at Queen’s Club and events taking place at Hyde Park. The 
works were also scheduled to avoid other key Underground and National Rail 
closures.  
 
We used gateline data from the only comparable event – the wedding of Prince 
Charles and Camilla Parker Bowles at Windsor Castle on Saturday 9 April 2005. 
This approach worked well to allow us to understand travel flows. This enabled us to 
assess the impact of the closures and be sure that the wider transport network was 
able to cope. It is worth remembering that the vast majority of Transport for London’s 
services were going to be running as normal over that weekend, to help everyone 
enjoy the Royal Wedding.  
 
 
We worked closely with train operating companies and the Metropolitan Police 
Service in the lead-up to these events. A thorough customer communications plan 

Caroline Pidgeon AM 
Chair, Transport Committee 
London Assembly 
City Hall 
The Queen's Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

Page 51

lpelling
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



was also in place, which included information on our website and social media 
channels, emails to customers, and station posters.  
 
 

2. Network Performance on the day 
 

On the day of the Royal Wedding, we had additional staff at key locations and 
detailed plans in place for Paddington and Waterloo for those travelling to Windsor. 
All key London Underground lines serving Paddington and Waterloo, where services 
operate to and from Windsor, operated normally. The performance of both of these 
locations was overseen from the London Underground Control Centre (LUCC) 
alongside the mainline stations from the adjacent British Transport Police (BTP) 
command suite. LU deployed Travel Ambassadors to provide customer travel 
advice.   
 
As Wembley is served by the Metropolitan and Jubilee lines, we did not expect the 
FA Cup Final to be affected by the District line closure. On the day, we implemented 
our regular, well-practised plans for football traffic, and there were no significant 
issues reported.  The regular stadium event plan for Wembley Park station involves 
a 10-fold increase in station staffing (to circa 40 people), aligned with the stadium 
event stewarding plan and additional officers provided by the BTP. 
 
Train service performance across the remaining parts of the LU network on 19 May 
was strong. There was only one incident of note, at 07:19hrs that saw a brief part-
suspension of the Piccadilly line between Acton Town and Uxbridge as a result of a 
small track fire. This was dealt with very quickly and the line recovered to a Good 
Service by 08:55hrs. All other lines, not impacted by engineering works, operated a 
Good Service for the entire day. The network was busy over the course of the day 
but wholly in line with expectations. 
 
3. Actions undertaken on the District line in advance of the Four Lines 

Modernisation programme  

Work to install a new signalling and control system as part of the Four Lines 
Modernisation programme began in summer 2016. This new technology will enable 
us to reduce delays and improve reliability. Until then, we are taking steps to ensure 
good levels of service reliability day in, day out. The work is already underway and 
progress reviewed by dedicated teams on a daily, weekly and quarterly basis. 

This programme includes: 
  

 Replacing 2,300 point indication pins, a key component that can cause point 
failures. This work, expected to be completed in September 2018, will ensure 
points are more robust and reliable.  
 

 Replacing 249 point mechanisms. We have carried out additional work as a 
result of lessons learned from eliminated problems on other lines. This will be 
complete by January 2019. 
 

Page 52



 Introducing three dedicated Point Care teams. They are undertaking work 
over and above the normal maintenance of points, to improve reliability and 
asset conditions. They are focusing their attention on 55 critical points over 
the summer period and, once completed, we expect to see a significant 
reduction of point related issues on the line. 
 

 Replacing 1,322 pneumatic train-stop motors. These are protection systems 
that operate the emergency brakes on the train if the train goes through a red 
signal. They are air-operated and can suffer from reliability issues. When they 
fail it can result in a signal failure being triggered.  
 

In addition to these engineering measures, we are also improving the way we work 
to further improve reliability.   Currently, 37 per cent of our signal failures occur at the 
beginning of the day in the morning. This is caused by the vast number of people 
who gain access to our railway every night to carry out essential intrusive 
maintenance. These people tend to be experts in the system that they are attending 
the railway to maintain. Sometimes they can inadvertently cause damage to assets 
they do not understand either on their way to and from their worksite or actually 
during their work on assets close to where they are working. We are focusing on 
improving this. Our service controllers across the network are responsible for 
checking that every single signalling track circuit is operational.  If any of them are 
not functioning, our controllers are able to contact any one of 7,000 staff carrying out 
engineering work every night on our network, to detect the cause of the failure and 
resolve the issue in time for start of traffic. 
 
We are also taking the opportunity to clear our railway of scrap material (especially 
metallic items such as old rail and fastenings), leftover from previous projects at key 
intersecting junctions. Scrap placed carelessly or not secured properly is known to 
increase the probability of signal failures and damage to line-side equipment, both of 
which impact customer service. In certain circumstances, this can also sometimes 
impede fault finding and repairs and lengthen failures by making access more 
difficult. In the Acton Town area, for example, we have already removed 260 tonnes 
of scrap, and are planning to continue this work across our network. 
 
Finally, we are educating our people who are accessing the track about the damage 
they can cause and the things they need to look out for. We are installing signage 
and making announcements to remind our staff to take care, report any damage and 
to not leave equipment lying around.  
 
These short term measures will ensure good levels of service reliability day in, day 
out, and the Four Lines Modernisation programme will deliver longer term 
improvements in reliability and capacity. Until the modernisation of the District line is 
complete, we’ll continue to do everything we possibly can to minimise disruption for 
our customers. 
 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

Nigel Holness         
Director of Network Operations,         
Transport for London  
 
 
 
 
Peter McNaught 
Director of Asset Operations 
Transport for London 

Page 54



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 12 September 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines recent actions taken by the Chair under delegated authority, in consultation with 

the party Group Lead Members, in accordance with the delegations granted to the Chair by the 

Transport Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chair of the Committee under 

delegated authority, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, namely to agree: 

 

(a) A letter to the Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, Secretary of State for Transport, copied to 

the Office of Rail and Road, regarding disruptions on the Govia Thameslink Railway 

network attached at Appendix 1 to the report and the response from the Office of 

Rail and Road attached at Appendix 2 to the report; 

 

(b) The recruitment process for three London TravelWatch Board Member positions; and 
 

(c) Arrangements for the site visit on a Thames Clipper boat on 28 June 2018 the 

summary of which is attached as Appendix 3, and the follow up letter attached at 

Appendix 4 to the report.  
 
 

 3. Background  
 

3.1 At its meeting on 11 July 2018, the Committee resolved: 

 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree a 

submission to the Department for Transport, copied to the Office of Rail and Road, regarding service 

disruptions on the Govia Thameslink Railway network. 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



        

 

 

3.2 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, a letter to the Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, 

Secretary of State for Transport, copied to the Office of Rail and Road, was agreed on 18 July 2018. 

A response from the Office for Rail and Road was received on 20 July 2018. 

 

3.3 At its meeting on 13 June 2018, which was used for the Committee’s investigation into the Future of 

Rail in London, the Committee resolved: 
 

 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any related site visits. 

 

3.4 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the arrangements for a site 

visit, hosted by Network Rail, to take place on 29 June 2018 to London Bridge to review the Digital 

Railway Programme. This site visit was undertaken as part of the Committee’s investigation into the 

Future Rail in London. The report for this investigation is currently being drafted and will be 

reported to a future meeting of the Committee.  

 

3.5 Also at the 13 June 2018 meeting, the Committee resolved: 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Leads, to agree the 

recruitment process for the three London TravelWatch Board positions, including Deputy Chair, due 

to expire at the end of the year. 

 

3.6 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the recruitment 

documents for three Board positions and agreed that Green Park, a recruitment firm, be contracted 

to undertake the recruitment search. The advert for the positions went live on 14 August 2018, with 

interviews expected to take place in autumn 2018. Party Group Leads and the Chair of the London 

TravelWatch Board will be invited to sit on the interview panel.  A report with the final decision is 

expected to be submitted to the Committee for consideration in November/December 2018. 

 

3.7 At its meeting on 16 May 2018, which was used to consider River Bus Services, the Committee 

resolved: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the output from the meeting and any related site visits. 

 

3.8 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed that a site visit on a 

Thames Clipper boat would take place on 28 June 2018.  A follow up letter to the Mayor was agreed 

by the Chair on 7 August 2018, following consultation with party Group Lead Members. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

 Govia Thameslink Railway 

4.1 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed a letter to the                  

Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, Secretary of State for Transport, copied to the Office of Rail and Road, 

on 18 July 2018 which is attached at Appendix 1. A response from the Office for Rail and Road was 

received on 20 July 2018 and is attached at Appendix 2 for the Committee to note. 

 

Page 56



        

 

 

London TravelWatch Recruitment 

4.3 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the recruitment process 

and documents for the three London TravelWatch Board Member positions.  The advert went live on 

14 August 2018. A report will be submitted to the Committee meeting in November/December 2018 

with the final decision.  

 

 River Bus Services 

4.4 Following consultation with party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed a site visit on a Thames 

Clipper boat on 28 June 2018, the summary notes of which are attached at Appendix 3. A follow 

up letter to the Mayor was agreed by the Chair on 7 August 2018, following consultation with party 

Group Lead Members, and is attached at Appendix 4 for Members to note. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  The cost for the London TravelWatch recruitment process and associated costs is estimated to be 

£24k. The cost will be met from the Secretariat’s current budget. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Letter to Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP, Secretary of State for Transport, dated 18 July 2018. 

Appendix 2 – Letter from Office of Rail and Road, dated 20 July 2018. 

Appendix 3 – MBNA Thames Clipper Site Visit – Summary note 

Appendix 4 – Letter to the Mayor, dated 7 August 2018 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Form: 939 (River Bus Services site visit); 964 (LTW recruitment); 966 

(Department for Transport Letter); 978 (Future Rail site visit) 

 

Contact Officer: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 5526 

Email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 57

mailto:laura.pelling@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



 
 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, Chair of the Transport Committee 
 

Contact: Laura Pelling, Principal Committee Manager, London Assembly, City Hall, Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Tel: 020 7983 5526; email: laura.pelling@london.gov.uk 

London Assembly 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 
London SE1 2AA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Dear Secretary of State, 

 

Govia Thameslink Railway 

 

The May timetable changes have caused disruption and inconvenience for hundreds of thousands of 

passengers across London and beyond.  The level of service has been totally unacceptable, and is still 

far below what passengers were promised.  This has been a failure of the whole rail industry – 

including your department – and must not be allowed to happen again.  The London Assembly 

Transport Committee has taken evidence from rail experts, Govia Thameslink Railway (GTR) and 

Network Rail, and I am writing to you to share our findings.  We note the investigation to be carried 

out by Stephen Glaister; he is copied into this letter and we hope you both consider the issues we 

raise.  We also note that the Mayor has written to you recently on this topic. 

The May timetable changes were hugely complex, involving a large number of organisations and a 

variety of interdependencies.  Setting up an Industry Readiness Board to manage this huge process 

may have been a good idea in theory, but it clearly failed in practice.  Crucially, there was no single 

controlling mind who was willing or able to put the process on hold.  The complexity of the rail 

industry structure is, in itself, part of the problem here and you need to consider whether changes 

need to be made at a structural level.  Furthermore, while the industry’s “can-do” culture is essential 

for getting things done and overcoming problems, it brings its own risks.  Working on the basis that a 

solution will always be found can be dangerous; people need to be able to say “no, this just will not 

work”.  The chaos that unfolded after 20 May is proof that not enough people in the rail industry 

were willing to speak up in that kind of culture.  

At our committee meeting on 25 June, Nick Brown (GTR Chief Operating Officer) told us that some 

“very late presenting problems” had caused the disruption.  We do not share this assessment.  Many 

of the problems were visible many months before May, and it should have been clear to the Industry 

Readiness Board that the timetable changes needed to be scaled back or delayed. 

• The timetables should have been set 12-20 weeks before the change but some were still 

being approved just a few days before 20 May.  It seems patently obvious that there must 

have been a point at which GTR and other operators simply wouldn’t have enough time to 

prepare their train diagrams and work schedules, and then to roster their drivers. 

18 July 2018 Rt Hon Chris Grayling MP 
Secretary of State for Transport 

 
 

Page 59

lpelling_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 1



 
 

2 
 

• It should have been obvious that GTR would not have enough trained drivers for the routes 

on the new timetable.  There are many factors at play here which all seem to have been 

ignored.  GTR has not had enough drivers since your department first awarded it the 

Thameslink, Southern and Great Northern franchise, and it has struggled since then.   

• The new Siemens 700 trains were delivered late, partly due to technical issues but also 

because your department was unable to agree a financing deal for two years – a failing 

confirmed by the National Audit Office.   

• The rail industry’s reliance on rest-day working for training is another factor that slowed 

down the pipeline of drivers for GTR services, and one that needs to be urgently addressed; 

we cannot think of another industry where workers have to carry out so much training 

outside their normal working hours.  We heard that it could take six to nine months to learn a 

completely new route on that basis, which – combined with the other factors at play – seems 

bound to cause problems for operators. 

• Going further back, we note the delay in the decision to switch from a 2-phase to a 4-phase 

timetable change.  We heard that the Industry Readiness Board raised this in June 2017 but 

Ministers did not take the decision until the end of October, eating into the time available for 

the industry to prepare. 

All of these factors were known to the industry, yet, somehow, nobody was able to reach the 

conclusion that the May timetable changes just could not work.  We do not understand how so many 

warning signs were ignored by so many people.  The composition of the Industry Readiness Board 

needs to be seriously looked at – perhaps some external voices on the board would have provided 

some useful challenge to the industry group.  We were also surprised to learn that TfL was not part 

of that board, despite the high degree of interdependence of transport services in London and the 

effect that the timetable failure had on TfL’s own network. 

We hope that the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) inquiry will get to the bottom of these issues and 

ensure that passengers are not subjected to the same disruption again.  It is vital that the inquiry 

considers the skills and capacity within your department, and whether it is capable of managing the 

rail industry effectively.   We have huge respect for Stephen Glaister, but we question your decision 

to ask him to chair the inquiry in view of the fact that the ORR was an integral part of the Industry 

Readiness Board which failed to prevent this situation.  It is important that the inquiry is seen to be 

independent, and we are concerned that the public will see it as little more than an industry 

whitewash. 

We are pleased to see that the timetable change planned for December has been halted. After our 

committee meeting on 25 June we had concluded this was the best course of action and would 

hopefully allow the rail industry to focus on resolving the immediate problems.  We are also pleased 

to hear that a compensation package for passengers will be announced shortly.  However, we do not 

understand why it has taken almost two months to get to this point.  Your department needs to 

establish a much quicker process to set up compensation packages for any future episodes of major, 

prolonged disruption. 

Passenger confidence in the rail industry has been shaken by this episode.  The rail industry is 

complex and fragmented, and many parts of it have been at fault.  But you, as Secretary of State, 

Page 60



 
 

3 
 

need to take responsibility for the failings of the industry here, and take steps to make sure it does 

not happen again. 

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE 

Chair, Transport Committee  

 

 

 

 

Cc Sadiq Khan 

Cc Stephen Glaister CBE 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 62



Page 63

lpelling_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2



Page 64



Transport Committee 

MBNA Thames Clippers Site Visit 

Date 28 June 2018  

Location Starting and ending at London Bridge City Pier, travelling between Greenwich and 

Westminster. 

Attendees Caroline Pidgeon AM (Chair), Florence Eshalomi AM, Tom Copley AM, Keith Prince 

AM, Richard Berry, Tanya Lightfoot-Taylor, Samira Islam, Sam Casserly, Jo Driscoll. 

Meeting On board the Committee met with representatives of Thames Clippers and the Port 

of London Authority. A London Live reporter also attended. 

Background 

On 16 May 2018, the Transport Committee discussed River Bus Services with representatives of 

Transport for London (TfL), Port of London Authority, MBNA Thames Clippers and River Bus 

passengers. 

This site visit is an opportunity was arranged to provide Committee Members with the chance to 

experience the River Bus service and see some of the issues discussed first hand.1 

Passenger experience 

• The boat was not crowded when leaving central London, but became much busier on the return

journey to central London.

• The boat provided a very steady ride. The boat is limited to 12 knots between Lambeth and east

London, because of the effect of the wash, but can increase speed elsewhere.

• New boats have USB ports in the seats.

• In the Netherlands, passengers can bring bikes on board, supporting multi-modal travel.

• There is some congestion at piers, for example at Tower Pier, causing slow loading and

unloading times. Some piers need expanding, others just better management.

Signage 

• Around some piers there is poor signage. For instance, there is little indication from London

Bridge train station that a pier is nearby, and the signage at the pier is non-standard.

• The operator would like to see the TfL roundel and London River Services (LRS) logo and each

pier.

• Network Rail has been open to adding signs when stations are upgraded.

• The operator would like to see river services added to the tube map.

Ticketing 

• MBNA Thames Clippers has a corporate agreement with PwC for staff travel between London

Bridge and Westminster, where the company’s offices are located.

• 80% of tickets are now cashless.

1 This note summarises observations or views heard by Members on the visit. It does not represent the views of 
the Committee or any other organisation, unless stated. 

Appendix 3

Page 65



  
 

Transport Committee 

 
 

• Passengers can’t use TfL travelcards to travel. The operator suggested allowing this would not 

be beneficial, as they would receive only a small fraction of the revenue, rather than the full cost 

of a ticket as at present. 

• Everyone who buys a ticket is guaranteed a seat. 

• If a boat ride cost the same as a train journey (as attempted by New York City), demand for the 

river would be too high – some rationing is needed. 

 

Emissions 

• Newer boats have 25% fewer emissions with the same capacity. 

• The operator believes hydrogen fuel cells could be used on boats, but currently the Maritime 

and Coastguard Agency wouldn’t consider this. This fuel type has not been used anywhere in the 

world yet. 

• The Department for Transport is producing a Maritime 2050 strategy. This could address 

emissions. 

 

Staffing 

• More trained masters are needed in the sector. 

• The operator wants to recruit more local people – those who live around the piers. 

• The operator is looking to increase crew diversity. On International Women’s Day they had the 

first female-only crew. 

 

TfL support 

• Until recently there had been an 18-month gap in focused support for river services from TfL, 

while the London River Services (LRS) unit was being restructured. 

• The operator welcomes the fact that the new head of LRS is also overseeing Cycle Hire and the 

Air Line cable car, as these services fit well together. 

 

Expansion 

• A pier has been built as part of the Royal Wharves development, but as yet no bus service to the 

pier has been introduced. 

• MBNA Thames Clippers has proposed a new electric ferry service for the Rotherhithe Crossing. 

Details are being shared separately with the Committee.  

Page 66



Appendix 4

Page 67



Page 68



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Elizabeth Line 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 September 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on the announcement of a delay in the opening 

of the Elizabeth line. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to a discussion with invited guests on 

the delayed opening of the Elizabeth line and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Elizabeth line is a new railway for London and the South East, running from Reading and 

Heathrow in the west, through 26 miles of new tunnels under central London to Shenfield and 

Abbey Wood in the east. The Elizabeth line is being delivered by Crossrail Limited. New state-of-the-

art trains will carry an estimated 200 million passengers a year. The new service will reduce journey 

times, increase the capital’s rail capacity by 10 per cent and bring an extra 1.5 million people to 

within 45 minutes of central London. 

 

3.2 The central section of the line was due to open in December 2018. On 31 August 2018, however, 

Crossrail announced that the opening was being delayed until Autumn 2019 as a result of further 

testing being required on railways software systems and more time being required for fit-out of the 

tunnels. 

 

3.3 The Mayor of London appeared with representatives of Transport for London and Crossrail at the 

London Assembly plenary session on 6 September 2018 to discuss this issue. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



        

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to the meeting to discuss this issue: 

 Heidi Alexander, Deputy Mayor for Transport; 

 Mark Wild, Managing Director, London Underground; 

 A representative of Crossrail Limited; and 

 A representative of the Department for Transport. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager  

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: Scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 70

mailto:Scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Night Tube  

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 September 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out the background to a discussion on the Night Tube with representatives from 

Transport for London (TfL) and other organisations. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to a discussion with invited guests on 

the Night Tube, and notes the subsequent discussion.  

 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1  The Mayor of London launched London’s first Night Tube service in August 2016. The Night Tube 

provides a 24-hour service on Friday and Saturday nights only. The Night Tube began on the Central 

and Victoria lines in August 2016 and was extended to the Jubilee, Northern and Piccadilly lines.  

 

3.2 The Night Overground was launched on 15 December 2017 and also provides services on Friday and 

Saturday nights. The Night Overground service previously ran between New Cross Gate and Dalston 

Junction until it was extended to Highbury and Islington on 23 February 2018. 

 

3.3 TfL has plans to roll out Night Tube services to the Metropolitan, Circle, District and Hammersmith & 

City lines once a major upgrade programme is complete in 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



        

4. Issues for Consideration  

 
4.1 The following guests have been invited to the meeting to discuss the Night Tube: 

 Richard Dilks, Programme Director, Transport, London First; 

 Katharina Kort, Tube Noise Action Group; 

 Assistant Chief Constable Robin Smith, British Transport Police; 

 Nick Dent, Director of Line Operations, TfL; and 

 Peter McNaught, Director of Asset Operations, TfL. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: None.  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: Scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 72

mailto:Scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Assisted Transport Services 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 12 September 2018 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper provides an update on the recommendations of the Committee’s recent report on  

door-to-door services, which are also known as Assisted Transport Services. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the update from Transport for London on progress 

implementing the recommendations of the Committee’s report, Door-to-door transport in 

London: Delivering a user-led service. 

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Transport Committee published a report on door-to-door services in April 2017, following a 

rapporteurship investigation by Keith Prince AM. 

 

3.2 The report recommended that Transport for London (TfL): 

 Pilot a personal budgets scheme for service users in a London borough; and 

 Take further steps to integrate door-to-door services such as Dial-a-Ride, Taxicard and Capital 

Call. 

 

3.3 The Committee asked TfL for six-monthly updates on service integration during the current Mayoral 

term. 

 

3.4 Since the Committee’s report was published, TfL now uses the term ‘Assisted Transport Services’ 

rather than door-to-door services. 

 

 

 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8



        

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Committee has received its second update from TfL, attached at Appendix 1. This was also 

submitted to TfL’s Customer Service and Operational Performance Panel in June 2018. This includes 

a covering paper and three appendices. 

 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 
 
 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 - Update from TfL on Assisted Transport Services 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 74

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


Customer Service and Operational 
Performance Panel 

Date: 6 June 2018 

Item: Assisted Transport Services 

This paper will be considered in public 

1 Summary 
1.1 At its meeting on 17 November 2017, the Panel considered a paper outlining a 

vision for spontaneous and independent travel for Londoners with reduced 
mobility (the Assisted Transport Services Vision). The Panel agreed to continue 
to support TfL in delivering its Assisted Transport Services (ATS) vision through 
the support of an ATS champion, from amongst its members, who would: 
‘challenge, champion and support’ the development of ATS proposals.  

1.2 This paper updates the Panel on progress to date in embedding the ATS vision 
within TfL’s broader strategic objectives and delivering the actions set out in the 
ATS Roadmap, most notably the launch of a pilot to trial new ways in which to 
improve flexibility and choice for ATS customers; an integrated contract for the 
supply of taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (PHVs) for ATS services; and the 
integration of the operation of the Capital Call scheme within TfL On Demand 
Transport alongside the Dial-a-Ride service. 

2 Recommendation 
2.1 The Panel is asked to note the inclusion of the Assisted Transport Services 

Vision and Roadmap in the Mayor’s Transport Strategy and the progress 
made since the last meeting in delivering the outcomes. 

3 Background 
3.1 With the number of Londoners with reduced mobility set to rise and pressure on 

available budgets to deliver existing ATS provision it has been clear for some 
time that a review of ATS provision has been needed. TfL provides the vast 
majority of funding for non-statutory door-to-door schemes in London contributing 
£46m towards the overall costs of £48m for Dial-a-Ride, Taxicard and Capital 
Call. 

3.2 The ownership and governance of the various services that make up London’s 
ATS provision is complex. Appendix 1 outlines the different public authorities (TfL, 
London Councils, the 33 London Boroughs, 32 NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Groups) and 22 charitable Community Transport Operators involved, the number 
of which has meant that the pace of change in ATS provision has been gradual.  

Appendix 1

Page 75



3.3 TfL’s Roadmap for a spontaneous and independent ATS, endorsed at the 
November 2017 meeting of the Panel aims to create added momentum to the 
pace of change. The Roadmap will achieve this through a series of incremental 
actions that culminate in a world leading service provision for ATS customers that 
meets five design principles: safe and reliable journeys; convenience; flexibility 
and choice; integration and innovation.  

4 Embedding the Assisted Transport Services Roadmap  
4.1 The ATS vision and the actions set out in its accompanying Roadmap have been 

included in the final version of the Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS), published in 
March 2018. This has firmly embedded delivery of the Roadmap as part of TfL’s 
strategic plans. Proposal 56 in the MTS states that: 

“The Mayor, through TfL and the boroughs will design Assisted Transport 
Services around the principles of safe and reliable journeys, convenience, 
flexibility and choice, integration and innovation, delivering the Roadmap by 
2021”.  

4.2 The MTS establishes the ATS Roadmap as a deliverable within TfL’s Accessibility 
Implementation Plan alongside improvements to bus, underground and taxi 
services, acknowledging ATS’s place as an integral part of an integrated and 
accessible transport network for London.  

4.3 TfL have established an integrated team to co-ordinate and monitor progress in 
delivering the Roadmap’s action plan. A summary of the progress to date is 
included in Appendix 2.  

5 Assisted Transport Pilot 

5.1 In July 2017, the Panel noted TfL’s response to the London Assembly report: 
Door-to-Door Transport in London – Delivering a user-led experience, in particular 
its proposal to launch a pilot to trial new ways in which to improve flexibility and 
user choice for existing ATS schemes. 

5.2 TfL’s response to the London Assembly report outlined our intention, subject to 
agreement with London Councils and its Transport and Environment Committee 
(TEC), to run a pilot, looking at new ways in which users of ATS services could be 
provided with more flexibility and choice. The changes being trialled aim to 
improve access to the longer distance journeys that the London Assembly had 
highlighted as being a long standing issue. The original timeline, set prior to 
detailed discussed with the relevant parties, was to run the pilot for 12 months 
starting in April 2018, with plans for implementation finalised by the end of 2018.  

5.3 Since then, TfL has been working with London Councils and two London 
boroughs, one in inner London (Southwark) and one in outer London (Hounslow) 
to progress arrangements to run an Assisted Transport pilot. A pilot steering 
group consisting of representatives from TfL, London Councils and the two 
boroughs involved has been driving progress.  

Page 76



5.4 TfL has also updated the London Councils’ TEC in October 2017, December 
2017 and April 2018 on the development of the pilot proposals to secure the 
agreement of TEC members at each stage of the pilot design.  

5.5 Focus group research has been conducted on the changes being tested by the 
pilot, involving selected users and non-users of Taxicard, Dial-a-Ride and Capital 
Call. The research included hard to reach groups of potential ATS users such as 
younger disabled people and parents of disabled children as well as older 
disabled customers. The indicative findings of this research suggested support for 
the pilot proposals, but with different groups appearing to favour one or other of 
the propositions set out below. 

5.6 The propositions to be tested involve modifications of the way that customers are 
given their annual Taxicard budget, currently set at 104 trips per annum in most 
boroughs. The propositions have been designed to combine the best aspects of 
the Taxicard and Capital Call schemes to create new ways to access door-to- 
door services that are more user friendly and flexible, particularly in respect of 
customers’ ability to access longer distance journeys.  

5.7 There are two versions of budget management being tested in the pilot. Both aim 
to retain those aspects of Taxicard favoured by customers and to make 
improvements to areas perceived to be barriers to use, based on the aspects of 
the Capital Call scheme (which offers a virtual cash budget) that enabled a high 
level of customer choice between short and long journeys, whilst still using a list 
of approved and vetted suppliers. 

5.8 The level of customer contribution (currently a minimum of £2.50) will remain 
unchanged within both options being tested in the pilot and the subsidy amounts 
remain unchanged. However there will be two key differences from the current 
Taxicard offer:  

(a) under proposition A, the ‘double swipe’ maximum will be removed enabling 
longer journeys (participants can use more than two swipes for a journey) 
with conditions put in place to ensure that the participant has funds for a 
return journey; and 

 
(b) under proposition B, the trip budget will be converted to a virtual cash 

budget equivalent to the standard trip based budget.  
 

 Proposition A: Trips Proposition B: Financial 
equivalent of trips 

Hounslow 104 per annum £1,110 
Southwark 9 a month £95 a month (£1,140 per 

annum) 
 

5.9 The amount allocated to the virtual cash budget for each user is the financial 
equivalent of the current trip limit. This amount has been calculated using the 
existing trip profile (i.e. how many trips completed per tariff for both Taxi and 
PHV).  

Page 77



5.10 The pilot will involve circa 300 participants randomly selected from Taxicard users 
and non-users within the two participating boroughs. The recommended sample 
sizes have also been calculated to enable a reasonable 95 per cent level of 
confidence that the observed behaviours from the pilot, were it to be rolled out to 
the entire population (i.e. within each of the pilot boroughs), is within +/-10 per 
cent of this. Further details can be found in Appendix 3.  

5.11 The necessary data sharing agreements between TfL and London Councils have 
become more complex as a result of the new General Data Protection 
Regulations, but are being finalised. Preparations for participant recruitment are 
underway and due to start at the end of May 2018. Data evaluation will cover the 
period April 2018 to October to 2019. A summary of the timetable for the pilot is 
shown below: 
 

 
 

  
6 Integrated Contract for ATS Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Supply  

6.1 Other initiatives have also been progressed that are contributing to a greater 
integration between ATS services. The outcome of the joint procurement involving 
both TfL and London Councils in securing a common service partner to deliver 
taxi and PHV supply for Taxicard, Capital Call and Dial-a-Ride (taxi supplement to 
minibus provision) is being finalised with the preferred supplier. The new contract 
is expected to be introduced for Taxicard on 1October 2018 and no later than 9 
July 2018 for the Dial-a-Ride and Capital Call elements.  

6.2 The new contract will deliver a number of important customer enhancements for 
Taxicard users such as improved complaint handling and enhanced web and app-
based booking options. It will also deliver common driver quality standards for all 
three services. The new contract, for example, includes a requirement for all 
drivers delivering journeys under the contract to have passed an e-learning 
module, developed by TfL. The e-learning module is based on Dial-a-Ride driver 
training that includes elements of disability equality training, safeguarding and 
other customer care requirements. Other specific customer facing improvements 
to Taxicard will be jointly announced by TfL and London Councils once the 
timetables for the introduction of the improvements have been finalised.  

Page 78



7 Further Integration of Assisted Transport Services Provision 
7.1 By the beginning of July 2018 the operation of the Capital Call scheme will be 

integrated within TfL On Demand Transport1alongside the Dial-a-Ride service, 
enabling a higher quality standard to be delivered for Capital Call’s PHV based 
journeys in common with the other ATS services The in house operational 
delivery of Capital Call will also enable TfL as the sole funder of the scheme to 
benefit from economies of scales resulting from the sharing of overheads and the 
use of the ATS integrated taxi and PHV contract. The level of virtual budget and 
booking hours will remain unchanged for Capital Call customers in the ten 
boroughs where the scheme operates. 

8 Next Steps 
8.1 TfL will continue to work to deliver the outcomes required to deliver the ATS 

Vision. Updates on progress will continue to be provided to the Panel at six 
monthly intervals.  

 
 
 
List of appendices to this report: 
 
Appendix 1:  London’s Assisted Transport Services – core activity 
Appendix 2:  The journey towards the vision for a world class ATS 
Appendix 3: Further details of the Assisted Transport pilot 
 
List of Background Papers: 
Assisted Transport Services, Customer Service and Operational Performance Panel - 1 
November 2017 
Social Needs Transport, Customer Service and Operational Performance Panel - 13 
July 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact Officer:  Claire Mann, Director of Bus Operations, Surface Transport  
Number:  020 3054 9465 
Email:  ClaireMann@tfl.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 The new TfL department that has responsibility for Dial-a-Ride, Travel Mentoring, Capital Call and TfL’s 
interest in the Taxicard scheme. 

                                            

Page 79



Appendix 1: London’s Assisted Transport Services 
The services that are being defined as core ATS activity are outlined below, each with a brief summary of their customer proposition and current 
funding arrangements.  

 Customer proposition Funding arrangement 
Dial-a-Ride Multi-occupancy mainly bus based service booked in advance, requiring 

customer flexibility over time of travel. Free to the user. 
 

Funded by TfL. 

Community 
Transport 

Borough based local community organisations, usually with charitable 
status, offering door-to -door journeys for groups and individuals in a 
local area through minibus and community car share services. 
 

Funded through a variety of means, including 
London borough grants, charitable sources and 
commercial contracts. Some CTs are supported 
by TfL following the award of Dial-a-Ride MOAT 
contracts through a competitive tendering 
process.  

Taxicard Individual taxi based service, subsidised up to a limit per trip. Annual 
limit of trips, typically 102 p/a. User contributes £2.50 in cash at time of 
journey. 

Majority (80%) funded by TfL, with a contribution 
from the London Boroughs. Managed by London 
Councils. 
 

Capital Call Individual PHV based service, closed to new members and only 
operating in10 boroughs. Virtual cash budget of up to £200 with more 
flexibility on journey length than with Taxicard. User contributes between 
£1.50 and £7.50 depending on journey length. 
 

Funded by TfL. 

Statutory social 
care and 
educational 
transport  

Services that provide access to day centres and schools for those facing 
mobility barriers. 

Funded and managed by London boroughs. 

Non-emergency 
hospital transport 

Free transport to and from hospital for people with mobility barriers.  Funded by the NHS. 

Travel Mentoring Provides confidence building individual and group travel training and 
mentoring opportunities to help disabled people become independent 
travellers. 
 

Funded by TfL. 

Mobility Aid 
Recognition 
Scheme 

Enables mobility scooter users of appropriate size and weight to use 
them aboard buses and some other modes of public transport. 
 

Funded by TfL as part of its Travel Mentoring 
Service. 

Disabled Person’s 
Freedom Pass 

Travel concession in the form of a specially branded Oyster 
card/photocard issued by local boroughs, providing free public transport 
travel in London. 
 

Funded by London boroughs, through London 
Councils.  

P
age 80



Appendix 2:  The journey towards the vision for a world class ATS 
 

Improvement 
initiative 

Detail of initiative Status in November 
2017 

Current status 

 
Delivered: 
Diversification of Dial-
a-Ride fleet  

 
Dial-a-Ride split into commissioning (ATS) and 
delivery (Dial-a-Ride Fleet Services). 

 
Delivered April 2016. 

 
Delivered. 

 
Delivered: Supporting 
and promoting locally 
based assisted 
transport services  

 
New MOAT Contracts for delivery of a proportion 
of Dial-a-Ride journeys.  
Ongoing sharing of best practice, working 
towards greater comparability of service 
standards for broader social benefits. 

 
Contracts delivered 
between June and 
October 2017. 

Delivered. 

 
Delivered: Improving 
Dial-a-Ride scheduling 
and customer offering 

 
Introduction of real time scheduling and dispatch   
Real-time customer information on vehicle 
arrival times. 

Delivered June 2017. Delivered. 

 
Improved use of local knowledge in scheduling – 
through use of experienced drivers to review 
scheduling of regular group journeys. 

Ongoing from July 
2017. 

Delivered. 

 
Removal of 5 mile trip limit – journeys 
accommodated based on availability, not 
refused purely due to distance. 

 
Launch planned for 
November 2017 
(press release). 

 
Delivered (announced through Dial-a-Ride In 
Touch magazine in November 2017). 

ATS Action 1. 
Data analysis to 
understand customer 
choice between ATS 
and mainstream 
services 

Analysis of existing data to understand 
interactions and factors determining choice of 
usage of Dial-a-Ride, Capital Call, Taxicard and 
mainstream public transport.  

Discussions with 
London Councils to 
gain agreement to 
share relevant data 
during 2017/18. 
 

Data sharing agreements are being finalised 
between TfL and London Councils in order to 
proceed with the Assisted Transport Pilot. These 
will provide a basis from which future, ongoing 
data analysis will be able to take place more 
generally across ATS services and linking ATS 
travel patterns with those on mainstream modes. 
This will contribute to the integration of ATS 
strategic planning with mainstream public 
transport planning.  
 
Target for agreements to be in place: 31 July 
2018 to allow for review of GDPR implications by 
both the London Councils and TfL Privacy teams.  

P
age 81



Improvement 
initiative 

Detail of initiative Status in November 
2017 

Current status 

 
ATS Action 2. 
Developing a new 
umbrella identity for 
Assisted Transport 
Services, reflecting the 
partnership involved in 
their delivery 
Greater integration of 
service standards  
between the various 
assisted transport 
services (Dial-a-Ride, 
Capital Call and 
Taxicard) 

 
TfL Corporate design to develop a new identity 
for ATS services. 

 
Delivery planned for 
January 2018. 
 

 
A proposed identity for ATS services reflecting the 
partnership between TfL and London Councils 
has been developed. Consultation over the 
proposed identity has taken place with London 
Councils and is awaiting final internal TfL approval 
– expected to be confirmed by latest 30 June 
2018. 
 

 
TfL/London Councils Joint framework for the 
procurement of taxi and phv elements of all 
three services, setting up common customer 
service standards and performance 
management structures (including greater 
stakeholder input). 
 

 
New contract due to 
be awarded in April 
2018. 
 
 

 
A preferred bidder has been identified and TfL/ 
London Councils are in final stages of negotiation 
before official announcement of the tender result, 
expected by 15 June 2018. 
 

 
ATS Action 3. 
Increased awareness 
of the range of 
potential transport 
options for particular 
journeys 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Integrated customer information and marketing 
of ATS alongside accessible public transport 
options. 

 
Delivery planned for 
April 2018 (pending 
discussion and 
agreement with 
London Councils). 
 

 
. An integrated Delivery Group has now been 
established. It has been decided that the timing of 
delivery for this action is best placed to 
commence in September 2018, as this will enable 
a detailed review of existing knowledge of the 
outcomes of previous awareness campaigns to 
take place and to use data gathered from the 
Assisted Transport pilot to evaluate the effects of 
new initiatives that might be introduced. 
 
Campaign now scheduled to commence in 
September 2018.  
 

P
age 82



Improvement 
initiative 

Detail of initiative Status in November 
2017 

Current status 

 
ATS Action 4.  
Launch a ‘one stop 
shop’ platform for 
Assisted Transport 
Services  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Web-based membership application facility 
Development of web-based application facility 
for Dial-a-Ride with potential to include Taxicard 
applications. 

 
Delivery by April 
2018 (Taxicard 
inclusion subject to 
agreement with 
London Councils). 

 
Technical issues mean that the on line 
membership form for Dial-a-Ride is still in 
development and timescale for delivery has not 
yet been confirmed.  
 
TfL Technology and Data target for delivery by 31 
July 2018. 

 
Dial-a-Ride and Capital Call merged booking 
centre. 

 
Delivery due April 
2018. 
 

 
The transfer of Capital Call to be delivered 
through TfL is due to take place in early July to 
coincide with the implementation of the new joint 
contract arrangements covering Dial-a-Ride and 
Capital Call. 
 
Target for delivery no later than 9 July 2018. 
 

 
More integrated customer complaint and 
feedback system for all three services.  

 
From October 2018 
(subject to 
discussion and 
agreement with 
London Councils). 
 

 
Capital Call complaints and feedback will be 
integrated within TfL’s procedures as from early 
July. Taxicard procedures will be reviewed as part 
of mobilisation discussions leading up to start of 
new Taxicard contract in October 2018.  
 
New complaint handling procedures for Taxicard 
will be in place in time for new contract launch on 
1 October 2018. 
 

  
Enhanced web and app-based booking for taxi 
and phv supply for core services. Potential 
enhancement arising from letting of new contract 
from October 2018. 
 

 
Action by TfL/London 
Councils. 

 
On track for delivery as part of launch of new 
contract.  
 
Timetable is subject to negotiation with preferred 
bidder and will be agreed in advance of launch of 
new contract on 1 October 2018. 
 

P
age 83



 
 
(Action 4 cont.) 

 
Initially to be hosted on the web, providing a 
single platform from which to access all ATS 
services: Dial-a-Ride, Taxicard, Travel 
mentoring, Mobility Aid Recognitions Scheme 
and accessible public transport information.  

 
Target for web-site 
platform during 
2018/19 pending 
discussion and 
agreement with 
London Councils 
(over Taxicard 
inclusion). 
 

At the workshop mentioned above, it was agreed 
that a detailed review of customer requirements 
should be the first stage of this work, and that two 
phases of web development should be planned. 
The first, aiming to be in place for September 
2018 for the reasons given in Action 3, will 
introduce basic improvements with a second 
phase to be introduced following the end of the 
Assisted Transport pilot in October 2019, building 
on qualitative data that will be gathered from the 
participants as part of the pilot evaluation. 
 
The interim evaluation stage of the pilot in April 
2019 will be used as the starting point to begin 
scoping of phase 2 of the web improvements.  
 

 
Explore potential for greater integration between 
Dial-a-Ride and Taxicard booking and dispatch 
centres arising out of launch of new joint 
contract framework for taxi and PHV supply. 

 
From October 2018 
(subject to 
discussion and 
agreement with 
London Councils). 
 

 
This is part of the ongoing joint work with London 
Councils and is scheduled to take place once 
contract mobilisation discussions are completed 
with a view to introducing some integration 
measures within 6 months of contract introduction.  
 
Monthly contract performance meeting between 
supplier, TfL and London Councils will commence 
in October 2018 and will be the forum at which 
these discussions will take place.  
 

 
ATS Action 5. 
Expand marketing of 
accessible transport 
improvements, Travel 
mentoring services 
and the  Mobility Aid 
Recognition Scheme 
to Freedom Pass and 
Blue Badge holders 
 
 

 
Targeting key groups for modal shift a) 
potentially from door to door to bus services and 
b) from car journeys to bus services and other 
public transport options.  

 
From April 2018 
(pending agreement 
with London 
Councils).  
 

 
The timing for this action is due for discussion with 
London Councils once the Assisted Transport pilot 
has commenced. Target date for marketing plans 
to be agreed – September 2018. 
 
Target for completion: 31 July 2018. 

P
age 84



 
 
 
 
 
ATS Action 6. 
Pilots 

 
Pilots in two London boroughs alongside free 
Dial-a-Ride service. Data analysis to understand 
the choices and interactions between the 
different ATS services and between ATS and 
mainstream, how best and to what extent modal 
shift can be achieved. 

 
Pilot to run  April 
2018- April 2019 
(discussion ongoing 
between TfL, London 
Councils and 
potential partner 
boroughs). 
 

 
The pilot will evaluate travel behaviour and 
customer experience of circa 300 participants 
from April 2018 to October 2019 in Southwark and 
Hounslow. See section 5 of main report for more 
details.  
  

 
ATS Action 7. 
Consider opportunities 
to harness knowledge 
from demand 
responsive transport to 
improve assisted 
transport offerings 
 
 

 
Explore potential for use of DRT scheduling 
systems to improve efficiency of ATS multi 
occupancy services (Dial-a-Ride).  

 
Discussions within 
the Transport 
Innovation team 
during 2018/19. 
 

 
Progress on the DRT trials is being monitored. 
 
Ongoing. Future work to be aligned with the DRT 
trials timetable once confirmed.  
 
 

Improvement 
initiative 

Detail of initiative Status in November 
2017 

Current status 

 
ATS Action 8. 
Scope possibilities for 
including health 
services transport in 
ATS one stop shop 
platform.  

 
Proposal to be developed to undertake a pilot in 
a single borough of integrating non-emergency 
patient transport services into one stop shop 
platform, based on a contractual arrangement 
with CCG. 

 
Discuss possibilities 
internally with a view 
to commencing 
research by January 
2018 and a local pilot 
in April 2019, 
building on the 
outcome of the pilots. 
  

 
It was initially planned to try and work with a 
University to conduct the initial scoping research 
into health transport, but it has provided difficult to 
identify a relevant expert. Ways to progress this 
Action will be a focus for the ATS Steering Group 
in coming months. 
 
On the agenda for the September 2018 ATS 
Steering Group to agree plan for further action.  
 

ATS Action 9.  
Following pilots and 
blended/ standalone 
DRT, use lessons 

Details to be developed through pilots. Aim to extend ATS 
integrated platform to 
multiple partnerships 
by year end 2020/21.  

Opportunities for linking this action to other 
projects within TfL are being actively monitored. 
 
Scoping work is planned to start in April 2019, 

P
age 85



learned to further 
develop the ATS one 
stop shop platform 
beyond TfL/London 
Councils to include 
NHS funded services, 
third sector services 
and new forms of 
public transport where 
appropriate. 

 based on interim evaluation report for the Assisted 
Transport pilot, with a target of October 2019 for 
strategy to be confirmed.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 86



 
Appendix 3:  Further details of the Assisted Transport pilot 
 
Pilot Objectives 
 
 

 Strategic Customer Operational Commercial Financial  Technology & Data 

Aim: To develop and test a new framework 
for assisted transport services that 
improves choice, flexibility and 
usability  and also encourages use of 
public transport, in line with objectives 
of draft Mayor's Transport Strategy  

To reduce unnecessary 
restrictions embedded 
into current Taxicard and 
Capital Call customer 
propositions and expand 
customers’ horizon of 
perceived choices. 

To develop cost effective 
means of allocating 
limited assisted transport 
resources that also gives 
customers visible choices 
between services. 

To establish a framework 
through which individuals or 
third party organisations 
can potentially financially 
support assisted transport 
journeys in the longer term.  

To understand the financial 
models and mechanisms 
required to support virtual 
cash assisted transport 
allowances and modal shifts 
towards public transport. 

To create a customer centric 
admin system from which data 
can be easily recorded for future 
planning purposes. 

Rationale 'The draft Mayor’s Transport Strategy 
calls for assisted transport services to 
become more flexible and convenient 
for its users and better integrated with 
other public transport services. 

Create more choice and 
flexibility over transport 
decisions for customers 
facing accessibility 
challenges whilst also 
retaining safeguards for 
the most vulnerable 
customers. 

Trial new mechanism 
through which to operate 
virtual cash based 
assisted transport 
allowance as a means of 
resource allocation. 

To provide a way to capture 
financial contributions in the 
future from other authorities 
where appropriate (e.g. 
NHS transport; social 
services). 

Inform future budget 
allocation, cost apportioning 
and management models. 

Reporting and analytics to inform 
future planning of assisted 
transport services, public 
transport and potential 
commercial partnerships. 

Questions 
answered/ 
concerns 
addressed 

How to deliver more customer choice, 
flexibility ,  ease of use and strategic 
modal shift whilst remaining cost 
neutral through more efficient delivery 
and administration. 

To what extent are 
customers able to 
choose? Is sufficient 
choice being offered? 
What information do 
customers need to make 
informed choices? 

Can we enable more 
efficient customer 
choices between assisted 
transport and mainstream 
transport to be made 
available through 
operating assisted 
transport allowances?  

Are other authorities 
interested in ‘topping up’ 
virtual cash purses to cover 
additional transport 
requirements? 

How can we meet customer 
needs whilst also ensuring 
good financial management 
for funders? 

Balance between preventing 
fraudulent activity and making 
services easy to use. 

Measures/ 
metrics: 

Stakeholder and delivery partner 
feedback measured against 
objectives of Mayor's Transport 
Strategy. Customer satisfaction 
ratings and use of public transport 
before and after pilot. 

Analysis on changes in 
demand/ modal choices 
from baseline. 

Analysis on changes in 
demand/ modal choices 
from baseline. 

Feedback from individuals 
and other authorities on 
level of interest in buying 
into framework – during 
and at end of pilot.  

 Number of users over-
spending/ under-spending 
their allocated budgets and 
number of users requesting 
advances. Modal shifts 
towards public transport. 

Ease of use of proposed solution 
for customers and of data 
created for planners to extract 
relevant information. 

P
age 87



Sample sizes: 
 

  Taxicard DaR 
Population sizes 2755         567 
Sample size (per proposition) 93            82 
Total sample size assuming 2 propositions 186 164 
Plus contingency recruitment 20% 20% 

  223 197 
 

  
   

 
Pilot success criteria 
 
High level success criteria for the pilot have been identified in accordance with the main objective areas of the pilot. The Pilot Steering 
Group will agree success measures in advance of the pilot propositions being launched in October 2018.  
 
Strategic Customer Operational Commercial Financial Governance 
Achievement of 
Mayors 
Transport 
Strategy: 
customer 
feedback on 
flexibility and 
convenience of 
assisted 
transport and 
the level of 
integrated with 
other public 
transport 
modes 

Improves 
customer 
choice: 
Customer 
feedback on 
ease of use  
 

Changes in 
demand can be 
identified and 
understood: 
Comparison of 
travel 
behaviour 
survey before 
and after the 
pilot and an 
understanding 
of any modal 
shift.  
 

Viable 
commercial 
framework: 
Level of 
interest from 
authorities and 
individuals in 
“buying into” 
framework 
 

Provides a 
viable way of 
allocating 
resources:  
Funding is cost 
neutral for TfL 
and Boroughs. 
The amount 
allocated per 
person is 
reviewed and 
the associated 
usage profiles 
analysed.  
 

Establish 
framework with 
an agreed 
RACI for 
ongoing 
partnership 
between TfL/ 
London 
Councils and 
the Boroughs 

 
Note:  

(1) Customer choice will be represented as a choice between modes and within realms of existing contracts for example choice between Taxicard and DaR 
trips not between different Taxi providers. 

(2) Commercial objectives will be achieved through separate research/ dialogue with hospitals and third  parties 

P
age 88



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Transport Committee Work Programme 

Report to: Transport Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 12 September 2018 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides details of planned scrutiny work by the Transport Committee and the schedule 

of Committee meetings for the remainder of the 2018/19 Assembly year.  

 
 
2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its work programme for the remainder of the 2018/19 

Assembly year, as set out in the report. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The following is a list of topics that the Committee is aiming to explore in this Assembly year: 

 River services; 

 National Rail; 

 Taxi and private hire services; 

 Freight; 

 Healthy streets; and 

 The Night Tube. 

4.2 The Committee will also seek to hold a meeting with the Commissioner of Transport for London 

(TfL) towards the end of 2018/19, most likely on 14 March 2019. The Committee will also seek to 

meet the new Deputy Mayor for Transport. 

4.3 The exact scope and timings for work on any of these other possible topics will be determined in due 

course and more detailed work programme reports submitted to future meetings. The Committee 

seeks to maintain flexibility in its work programme to take account of any relevant developments 

when scheduling its work and has a rolling work programme so work on any topics may continue 

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



        

beyond each Assembly year.  

 

National Rail 

4.4 The Committee is conducting an investigation into London’s National Rail network. The Chair agreed 

the scope and terms of reference of the investigation in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members. A site visit and informal roundtable meeting have also been undertaken; findings will be 

reported to Members at a later date.  

 

4.5 The Committee held an urgent discussion on 25 June 2018, on the disruptions affecting rail 

passengers using services run by Govia Thameslink Railway (GTR) since a new timetable was 

introduced in May 2018. It was also proposed that Members delegate authority to the Chair in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members to agree a submission to the Office of Rail and Road’s 

inquiry into the disruptions.1 A response is included under Agenda Item 5. 

 

Night Tube 

4.6 TfL launched the Night Tube service around two years ago, progressively extending the service to 

additional lines. The Committee will use its meeting today to consider any challenges the service may 

face such as passenger usage, finances, anti-social behaviour and noise complaints. 

 

Taxi and Private hire 

4.7 The Committee is planning to investigate taxi and private hire services, following up its 2014 report 

and subsequent scrutiny. This will include discussions at Committee meetings in October and 

November 2018. It was agreed at the 13 June 2018 Committee meeting to delegate authority to the 

Chair in consultation with party Group Lead Members to agree the scope and terms of reference for 

the investigation. 
 

Healthy Streets 

4.8 The Mayor has made the delivery of Healthy Streets a key priority of his Transport Strategy. Two 

new action plans on walking and road safety have been published in support of this. The Committee 

will discuss this topic at its meeting in December 2018. 

 

Elizabeth Line 

4.9 On 31 August 2018, Crossrail Ltd announced that it was delaying the opening of the central section 

of the Elizabeth line, which had been scheduled for December 2018. The Committee has monitored 

the delivery of the Elizabeth line in recent years via meetings and site visits (see below). The 

Committee has invited the Mayor’s Office, TfL, Crossrail and the Department for Transport to 

today’s meeting and will consider what further scrutiny is required to examine reasons for and 

implications of this delay. 

 

Site visits  

4.10 The Committee carried out a site visit to Tottenham Court Road on 6 June 2018 to view Crossrail 

Ltd’s progress constructing a new Elizabeth Line station at this site. 

 
Responses to recent Transport Committee work  

4.11 The table below provides details of any responses due from the Mayor, TfL and/or others to 

Committee work.  

 
 
 
 

                                                 
1
 http://orr.gov.uk/news-and-media/press-releases/2018/orr-launches-independent-inquiry-into-may-timetable-disruption  

Transport Committee work Details of responses due 

London’s cycling infrastructure Response from Mayor and TfL due by  

31 August 2018 

Page 90

http://orr.gov.uk/news-and-media/press-releases/2018/orr-launches-independent-inquiry-into-may-timetable-disruption


        

 
London TravelWatch 

4.12 The GLA Act establishes London TravelWatch as an arms-length body of the London Assembly. 
London TravelWatch provides regular reports to the Transport Committee. The next report is 
expected to be considered at the Committee meeting in October 2018.  
 
Heathrow Airport 

4.13 A number of London Assembly committees have a remit to consider the implications of the proposal 
to expand Heathrow Airport, which is opposed by the Assembly. The Transport Committee scrutiny 
focuses on surface transport access to Heathrow. In 2018/19 the Committee will be considering this 
during its investigation of National Rail services, its investigation of taxi and private hire services and 
any scrutiny of the decision to delay the opening of the Elizabeth line. 
 
Schedule of meetings 

4.14 The schedule of the remaining Transport Committee meetings for 2018/19 is set out below with 

details of the main prospective topics identified to date: 

 9 October 2018 – Taxi and private hire cars; 

 13 November 2018 – Taxi and private hire cars; 

 5 December 2018 – Healthy Streets; 

 9 January 2019 – to be confirmed; 

 5 February 2019 – to be confirmed; and 

 14 March 2019 – TfL Commissioner. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 

 
6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

None. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Richard Berry, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4000 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 91

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	3a - Minutes - 11 July 2018 - Appendix 1

	4 Summary List of Actions
	4a - Appendix 1 - 250618 PMcN  NH to CP Letter

	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	5a - Appendix 1 - letter to DfT
	5b - Appendix 2 - Reply ORR
	5c - Appendix 3 - river site visit notes
	5d - Appendix 4 - River Bus letter to the Mayor

	6 Elizabeth Line
	7 Night Tube
	8 Assisted Transport Services
	8a -  Assisted Transport Services appendix 1

	9 Transport Committee Work Programme



